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“ The acceleration of 
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Glossary

SilverBridge SilverBridge Holdings Limited, Holding company of the Group

Connect Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
SilverBridge Holdings Limited

Rubix Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
SilverBridge Holdings Limited

Cirrus Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
SilverBridge Holdings Limited

Exergy Administrative software product



05

Business Overview

Looking back over the past year

SilverBridge has made solid progress in the 2016 financial 
year. Since we started repositioning the Group in 2014, 
we have maintained steady growth. As we celebrate our 
21st anniversary, we can state that we have continued to 
grow despite the challenging economic environment. 

Over the past year, SilverBridge has completed four new 
implementations in the life insurance market. Support 
services continued to grow and we have continued to 
perform well with increased revenue and profit. We are 
pleased to again declare a dividend.

Financial services are fast becoming more digitally 
influenced with people moving towards solutions which 
are easily available and centred around the customer’s 
immediate needs. In order to meet the requirements of 
our market, SilverBridge has established new business 
models to expand our service offerings. The existing 
Exergy functionality has been augmented and has also 
been enhanced to include new group scheme and 
pension functionality. 

Our new implementation methodology has decreased the 
time to market and the cost of product implementations 
significantly. We have packaged our data analytics 
offering, which has started generating revenue.

We have established Cirrus to provide cloud-based 
business process outsourcing, hosting solutions and 
technical services to our clients. These outsourcing 
solutions reduce costs and allow insurers to focus on their 
core business. 

We recognised that training is rapidly changing in a 
connected world.  We enhanced our training programmes 
and made them available online. New and existing clients 
are using this training portal, which contains online 
videos, course lessons and assessment modules based 
on the actual software. It has proven to be a valuable and 
affordable tool for increasing the skill level and productivity 
of our end users.
We have improved our B-BBEE status from a level 4 to 
a level 3 contributor by investing time and effort in our 
employment equity focus areas and skills development 
programme. SilverBridge supports transformation in 
our country and employs people from diverse cultural 
backgrounds. We recognise the importance of investing 
time and money in our most valuable asset – our people. 

We kept this in mind as we increased our workforce 
significantly in 2016. Managing diversity has also 
become more important than ever to create an inclusive 

work environment. To this effect, SilverBridge has rolled 
out a business awareness and diversity management 
programme that has been well received by staff. 

Looking forward

Increased pressure on the profitability of existing business 
models and advances in technology have increased 
the possibilities of disruptive changes in the financial 
services market. Although this situation creates a threat 
for SilverBridge and our clients, it can be seen as a great 
opportunity as well. The Board has started focusing on 
setting a course for SilverBridge that will ensure that the 
company is well-positioned for an exciting future through 
the expansion of our product offering and the broadening 
of our business models. 

Over the past few years, revenue growth has been low due 
to the repositioning of the business. Over the coming year 
we will focus on growing our revenue. In order to achieve 
this, we have increased sales and marketing capacity 
to drive the sales of our new and existing products and 
services. 

We believe that digitalisation will play an important role in 
future financial services. We have started developing new 
cloud-based products that are independent from Exergy 
to address this movement towards a digital world. 

In the past year, we have managed to leverage our 
core assets to establish new business models. We will 
continue to use our core assets to grow and enhance 
these business models – we will expand our hosting 
services, bring business process outsourcing to market, 
and continue building competency for our data analytics 
and business intelligence offerings. 

We will continue to focus on and invest in the development 
of our people. The new B-BBEE codes will provide some 
challenges around how we invest in certain areas, but 
we are committed to taking steps to address these by 
focusing on skills development, supporting preferential 
procurement and increasing ICT-specific socio-economic 
development. 

Due to our rapid staff growth over the past year and our 
planned appointments for the new year, we have outgrown 
our current premises. We are looking forward to relocating 
to our new offices which, although not in the same office 
park, will remain in the same area. 

We are ready to welcome the new financial year with all of 
its challenges and opportunities.

Robert Emslie
SilverBridge Chairman

Jaco Swanepoel 
SilverBridge Chief Executive Office

Lee Kuyper
SilverBridge Financial Director
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Stakeholders

STAKEHOLDERS REQUIREMENTS ENGAGEMENT CHALLENGES STATUS

Investors and 
shareholders

SilverBridge as a vehicle 
to maximise sustainable 
returns on invested capital

A sustainable presence in 
the industry 

Receiving relevant and 
timeous information

Announcement of 
significant matters 

Reporting of results

Results presentations

Individual engagements

Annual general meeting 

Integrated report

Growth of revenue 75%

Clients Affordable solutions to our 
clients, sustaining their 
competitive advantage in 
the market

Constant interaction 
through “Agile” delivery 
approach

Our involvement in IT 
steering committees of 
our clients

SilverBridge Showcase 
and Road show events

Complexity of translating 
life insurance business 
objectives into IT solutions

Managing delivery over 
extended periods with 
changing business 
requirements

Provide cost effective 
products and services 
which align with clients’ 
value perceptions

65%

Employees SilverBridge as an
employer of choice by
providing a positive
working environment

Environment where
employees will be
challenged, developed
and fulfilled

Diversity initiatives

Employee wellness

Learning and 
development

Reward and recognise 
performance

Mobilise staff towards our 
purpose and values

Retaining key employees

Employment equity 
requirements

Recruitment

80%

Industry players Leading the way in our 
field of speciality

Creative solutions for our 
clients

Attending industry forums

Bi-annual SilverBridge 
road show events

Finding cost-effective 
solutions for the 
challenges facing the 
industry

67%

Suppliers Act in accordance with 
supplier agreements 
and in line with normal 
business practices in an 
arm’s length relationship

Face to face interactions

Service level agreements

Resolving disputes when 
the delivery is not in line 
with expectations

B-BBEE requirements

100%
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Stakeholders

STAKEHOLDERS REQUIREMENTS ENGAGEMENT CHALLENGES STATUS

Community Direct investment 
through social investment 
initiatives

Specific social initiatives 
and projects

Enterprise development 
through a sponsorship 
and investing time

Internship- and 
learnership programme

Attract and retain 
employment equity 
candidates

70%

Government and 
regulators

Compliance with laws and 
regulations

Paying taxes

Being a credible player in 
our industry, country and 
in Africa

Ongoing interactions 
with regulators to ensure 
compliance with their 
legal and regulatory 
requirements

Increased complexity
and higher cost of
compliance

Increased compliance for 
business model expan-
sion 

New B-BBEE codes

100%

SilverBridge’s checks and balances

GOVERNANCE:   
Credibility is the cornerstone of our business.  
We value good governance and quality reporting.

REMUNERATION:
We believe that real incentive motivates people - 
increasing productivity to benefit all stakeholders.

RISK:  
Managing risk effectively is critical to a business 
focused on dynamic and sustainable growth.

ETHICS:  
At SilverBridge, we value open communication, 
the sharing of knowledge and the empowerment of 
individuals.

  
King III compliance review,
integrated reporting, 2008 Companies 
Act.

Performance management and share 
incentive scheme, Remuneration 
Committee

Risk management model, modifying 
business model by separating product and 
service businesses, Risk Committee.

  
SilverBridge policies and procedures, 
Social and Ethics Committee.

Key developments:
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Major Shareholders and Group Structure

SilverBridge’s market

SilverBridge is celebrating its 21st year as a leading provider of insurance software solutions in the African market. Our 
operations currently extend to 33 implementations in 11 African countries. As one of the top providers in the industry, 
we have a significant client base with five of the top ten life assurance companies in South Africa, in terms of size and 
visibility, using Exergy. More than 3.3 million life policies are currently being administered using SilverBridge platforms. 
As financial service institutions adapt to the changing market, we foresee that through our enhanced service offering the 
number of policies administered will continue to grow. 

In South Africa, there are 76 life insurers and 99 short-term insurers with an industry value of R2.5 trillion. Although there 
have been a couple of tumultuous years in the insurance industry, the market continues to offer growth opportunities. 
While most of Africa’s insurance income is generated in southern Africa, this growth potential extends to emerging African 
markets as well. SilverBridge, a major service and product provider, is ideally positioned for this opportunity as Exergy 
forms an integral part of several financial institutions’ expansion programmes into Africa. 

Our focus remains on exploring new ways of growing our revenue both through new ventures and expansion of existing 
value propositions. 

33% 37% 23% 7%

KAGISO TISO HOLDINGS 
PROPRIETARY LIMITED & MMI 

HOLDINGS LIMITED

PUBLIC DIRECTORS NMT GROUP 
PROPRIETARY LIMITED
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Business Overview

SilverBridge’s product and service offering

We aim to fulfil our clients’ needs by providing the following products and services: 

• Rental/licensing of the Eco-Suite range of products
• Product implementation and support
• Advisory and consulting services related to our implementations and products
• Business intelligence and data analytics services
• Business process outsourcing
• Cloud-based hosting and technical outsourcing services

The Eco-Suite is SilverBridge’s contribution to the complete end-to-end solution required for life assurance, pension and 
group administration. It is the accumulation of our knowledge and experience and consists of all SilverBridge-produced 
software and tools to enable the SilverBridge policy administration model. 

The Eco-Suite is published to the SilverBridge Showroom. All SilverBridge clients and partners have access to the 
SilverBridge Showroom. It is an online platform that provides access to all applications, documentation, shared code, 
implementation and training material.

Our IGLOO implementation approach emphasises installing and getting the system operational as quickly as possible and 
then using this as a basis for optimisation of processes. Connect followed this approach for the latest implementations of 
Exergy and as a result implementation, time required has decreased and new clients have gone live within a few months. 

We have expanded our service offering through Cirrus, a new subsidiary created within SilverBridge. Cirrus offers 
business process outsourcing, technical outsourcing and hosting services to our existing market. 
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Management Team Profiles

Ben Burger 
Portfolio Manager
Date employed: January 2010

Petro Mostert 
Head of Finance and Shared Services
Date employed: November 2008

Stuart Blyth 
CEO Rubix Digital Solutions
Date employed: January 2015

Patrick Ashton
CEO Cirrus Managed Services
Date employed: June 2009

Johan Reyneke 
Business Development Executive
Date employed: July 2010

Ruth Wotela
People Wellness Executive
Date employed: October 2013

Lee Kuyper 
CEO Connect Software Services
Date employed: August 2007

Jaco Swanepoel 
CEO SilverBridge Holdings
Date employed: July 1995

Andries Burger 
Portfolio Manager
Date employed: April 2006
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JC Oberholzer 
CIO and Chief System Architect
Date employed: July 1995

Leonel da Silva 
Portfolio Manager
Date employed: July 2008 

Claudette Steynberg 
Asset Creation Manager
Date employed: January 2009

Rona Delport 
Portfolio Manager
Date employed: July 2000

Annalie Terblanche
Client Solutions Manager
Date employed: January 2008 

Chris van der Berg
Client Engagement Manager
Date employed: February 2014
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ROBERT EMSLIE
Chairman (58)

Appointed: January 2011

Robert is a member of a number of boards of listed and unlisted companies 
(mostly as an independent director). He has more than 30 years’ experience in 
the financial services sector and retired as a career banker in 2008. 
He is a chartered accountant.

AUDIT, RISK AND IT 
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL, ETHICS 
AND REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE 

NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

BOARD  INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE

JACO SWANEPOEL
CEO: SilverBridge Holdings Limited (56)

Appointed: December 2005

As co-founder he played a key role in the listing of the Group and establishment 
of SilverBridge Holdings. His 27 years’ experience in the financial services and 
IT industries has been of vital importance and great benefit. He started out in 
Sanlam’s actuarial division, then joined Momentum Life, where he engaged in 
aspects of life insurance administration as well as IT.

LEE KUYPER
Financial Director and CEO: Connect Software Services (35)

Appointed: September 2012

Lee joined the business in 2007 as financial manager and later moved on to 
oversee new business and existing account development functions, as well as 
commercial partnerships and relationships. He is a chartered accountant (UP) 
and completed his articles at PwC.

Board Member Profiles



13

Business Overview

STUART BLYTH
Executive Director and CEO: Rubix (36)

Appointed: February 2015

Stuart originally joined SilverBridge in 2011 as the finance commercial manager 
and at the end of 2013 he left SilverBridge to obtain his MBA at the IE Business 
School in Madrid, Spain. He is a chartered accountant and completed his stud-
ies through the University of Pretoria and did his articles at Nedbank.

TYRREL MURRAY
Executive Director (53)

Appointed: February 2009

Tyrrel heads up Investor relations as part of the group finance function at MMI 
Holdings Limited. He has wide-ranging financial reporting, tax planning and 
compliance experience. Over the past twenty years he has been involved in a 
broad spectrum of corporate finance transactions, predominantly in the 
financial services sector. He is a chartered accountant with an H. Dip (Tax).

JOCOBETH CHIKAONDA
Non-Executive Director (36)

Appointed: June 2014

Jocobeth is an executive manager of investments at Kagiso Tiso Holdings 
(“KTH”), where she is responsible for managing KTH’s portfolio investments and 
the acquisitions of as well as the disposal of assets. In addition to SilverBridge, 
Jocobeth is a board member of several other companies across various 
sectors. Jocobeth holds an MBA and PDBA from the University of Pretoria as 
well as a BCOMPT Accounting Sciences from the University of South Africa.

JEREMY DE VILLIERS
Independent Non-Executive Director (42)

Appointed: October 2008

Jeremy is the managing director of Anglo Cape Properties Ltd and a director 
of StoneHill Property Fund and StoneHill Property Management.  He has more 
than fifteen years’ experience in investment banking, corporate finance and 
investment management. Jeremy is a chartered accountant, with an H.Dip 
(Tax) from the University of Cape Town.

HASHEEL GOVIND
Non-Executive Director (35)

Appointed: November 2014

Hasheel is a Chartered Accountant and holds the title of Chief Executive 
Officer at GoldenRule Technology, a specialist IT resourcing Company. 
Prior to his appointment at GoldenRule Technology, Hasheel was the Chief 
Financial Officer at NMT Group Proprietary Limited and was responsible for 
investment management, group finance and the corporate finance function.



14

PART 2
Corporate Governance 

Report 



Corporate Governance

15

Corporate Governance Report

This corporate governance report sets out the key 
qualitative governance principles and practices of 
SilverBridge.

The Board of Directors and the various Committees of 
SilverBridge endorse the Code of Corporate Practices 
and Conduct (“the code”) as set out in the King report 
on Governance (“King III”) and substantially follow the 
recommendations and principles of the Code.    The board 
is committed to the principles of discipline, transparency, 
independence, social responsibility and accountability in 
their dealings with all stakeholders, as well as complying 
with the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

The commitment and pursuit of these principles are 
delivered through the Group’s various subsidiaries 
and committees, ensuring transparency, integrity and 
accountability as foremost in all business segments.   
The Board accepts that effective corporate governance 
practices are necessary to achieve and maintain trust and 
confidence by all stakeholders.  The board, throughout 
the year continued to assess its governance practices 
and procedures against King III and will continue to make 
adjustments where necessary.  

The board remains committed to the adherence and 
application of the highest levels of corporate governance 
and accept responsibility to provide a high standard of 
corporate governance.  

All of the members of the board are individually and 
collectively aware of their responsibility to ensure that 
the consolidated financial statements fairly represent the 
state of affairs of the Group, company and the board, 
therefor keeps its performance and core governance 
principles under regular review. The external auditors 
were responsible for independently auditing and reporting 
on the Group and company financial statements.  

Companies Act 2008 (“Act 71 of 2008’’), King III 
and JSE Limited Listings Requirements

The company continued to comply with the Companies 
Act 2008, King III and provisions of the JSE Limited Listing 
Requirements, unless otherwise indicated throughout the 
report.

Code of ethics and conduct

The board adopted and endorsed a code of ethics and 
conduct for the Group, which is reviewed on a regular 
basis.

All directors and employees are required to maintain 
the highest levels of professionalism and integrity in 
conducting SilverBridge business and in dealing with 
all stakeholders.  The code of ethics and conduct for 

the Group ensure compliance with generally accepted 
principles regarding ethical behaviour and ensures 
that all business is conducted in a manner, which in all 
reasonable circumstances, is beyond reproach. 

Ethics and values

At SilverBridge, we value open communication, the sharing 
of knowledge and the empowerment of individuals.

With regard to our ethics and values – our business 
philosophy – we are committed to excellence and integrity 
in all that we do.

At SilverBridge, a documented policy requires that all 
employees adhere to ethical business practices - in their 
relationships with one another, suppliers, intermediaries, 
shareholders and investors. This policy also sets stringent 
standards relating to the acceptance of gifts from third 
parties and declarations of potential conflicts of interest.

A fraud prevention policy ensures that a firm stance 
is taken against fraud and that offenders are duly 
prosecuted. The policy outlines the Group’s response 
to fraud, theft and corruption committed by staff and 
external parties against the Company. 

The Audit, Risk and Information Technology Committee 
(“ARITC”) manages the legal processes relating to cases 
of fraud, ensuring the highest possible level of recovery for 
the Group from any fraudulent behaviour. This committee 
is assisted by an independent Internal Auditor.  

Board of directors

Board charter

The board acts in accordance with an approved board 
charter which is reviewed on a regular basis.  The charter, 
in line with the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation 
(“MOI”), amongst others, regulates the composition, 
scope of authority, responsibility and functions of the 
board. A balance of authority is ensured through an 
agreed division of responsibility. No individual has 
unrestricted decision-making powers. 

Board composition

SilverBridge has a unitary board structure, with eight 
directors. The board composition is as follows:

• Chief executive officer: Mr J Swanepoel
• Financial director: Mr L Kuyper
• Executive director: Mr S Blyth
• Two independent non-executive directors:

1. Mr R Emslie (chairman of the board) 
2. Mr J de Villiers
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• Three non-executive directors:
1. Mr T Murray;
2. Mr H Govind; and
3. Ms J Chikaonda

Biographical details of all the directors appear on pages 
12 and 13.

Appointments and resignations during the financial 
period:

There were no new director appointments or resignations 
during the financial period.

Board meetings

A minimum of four board meetings are scheduled per 
financial year. Additional meetings may be convened 
to consider specific business issues which may arise 
between scheduled meetings. There were no additional 
meetings scheduled for the financial period. Attendance 
of board meetings is available on page 20. 

In addition to board meetings, annual strategy meetings 
attended by board members and executive management 
are convened. Strategic direction is determined within 
these key meetings and the executive management 
proposes its objectives and plans to the board. These 
strategic plans are reviewed, discussed and approved 
and thereafter monitored by the board (in accordance 
with the Group’s performance).

Board of directors’ roles and responsibilities

The Board adheres to the codified regime of directors’ 
duties and code of conduct.   In the interests of good 
governance, the board discharged its duties in line with 
the Board charter which subscribes to the codified regime 
in terms of legislative and statutory requirements as well 
as the principles of King III.  

The responsibilities contained in the Board charter defines 
the scope and range of the directors’ activities which 
include amongst others the specific governance and 
management activities in relation to areas of effectiveness 
and efficiency.  The directors’ duties focus on the 
commitments, attitudes, time management and the overall 
duty to act in the best interest of the shareholders and the 
company and includes amongst others, the following:

Specific duties and responsibilities of the board1 

relates to, amongst others:

• Corporate structure and strategic leadership;
• Board structure and corporate administration;
• Accountability and assurance;
• Disclosure and transparency; and
• Shareholder treatment and stakeholder

engagement.

The Chairman

Robert Emslie remained the independent non-executive 
chairman of the board. The roles of the chairman and 
chief executive officer remained separate. The chairman’s 
performance is evaluated annually.

Categories of directors

Legally there is no distinction between executive and 
non-executive directors and they all remain equally and 
collectively accountable for the board’s actions and 
decisions.  Having said that, King III defines Executive, 
Non-Executive and Independent Directors which is 
supported by the requirements of the JSE Limited.   

Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-
day business of the Group, neither are they full-time, 
salaried employees of the company, or its subsidiaries. 
The non-executive directors have unhindered access to 
management and the company secretary, they are further 
entitled to seek independent and professional advice 
about the affairs of the Group, at the Group’s expense. 

All non-executive directors are individuals of the highest 
calibre and credibility. They bring a value adding and 
objective viewpoint to all strategic decisions, processes 
and standards relating to business decisions involving 
the Group. The non-executive directors enjoy no benefits 
from the Group for their service (as directors), other 
than their fees and potential capital gains and dividends 
gained from interests in their ordinary shares. None of the 
non-executive directors participate in the share incentive 
scheme. 

Independence of directors

The independent non-executive directors are independent 
in terms of both the King III definition and the requirements 
of the JSE Limited. They do not participate in the share 
incentive scheme and have not served for a period of 
nine years.  The board will continue to measure their 
independence, in line with policy.

It was confirmed that the independent non-executive 
directors:

• were not representatives of any shareholder with the
ability to control or materially influence or the board

• were not employed by the company or the Group in
any executive capacity in the last three financial years

• were not members of the immediate family or of an
individual who is, or has been in any of the past three
financial years employed by the company or the 
Group in an executive capacity

• were not professional advisers to the company or 
the Group, other than in the capacity as directors

1. The detailed Board Charter can be accessed on www.silverbridge.co.za
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• were not suppliers to the company or Group, or to
clients of the Group

• did not have any material contractual relationship
with the company or Group

• did not have any business or other relationship
which could be seen to materially interfere with their
capacity to act in an independent manner

Executive directors

The three executive directors of SilverBridge are involved 
in the Group on a day-to-day basis and have entered into 
service contracts exceeding three years. None of the 
executive directors are appointed as trustees on the share 
option trust. 

The Board determines the remuneration of executive 
directors, in accordance with the remuneration policy 
endorsed by shareholders.    

The executive directors are individually mandated and 
held accountable for:

• the implementation of strategies and key policies
determined by the board

• managing and monitoring the business and affairs of
the company in accordance with approved business
plans and budgets

• prioritising the allocation of capital and other
resources

• establishing the best managerial and operational
practices

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

The CEO, Jaco Swanepoel, is tasked with the running of the 
business and the implementation of policies and strategies 
approved and adopted by the board. The governance 
and management function of the CEO is aligned with that 
of the board. In the delegation of responsibilities the CEO 
confers authority on management and is accountable for 
doing so. In this sense, the accountability of management 
is a direct reflection of the CEO’s authority. The CEO’s 
performance is evaluated by the chairman on an annual 
basis.

Appropriate measures are in place and are communicated 
to management, monitoring levels of authority applied 
within the Group - particularly in regard to human resources, 
capital expenditure, procurement and contracts.

Board selection, appointment and rotation

Directors are appointed by means of a transparent 
and formal procedure, governed by the Nomination 
Committee’s terms of reference. The Nomination 
Committee is responsible for selecting and recommending 
the appointment of competent, qualified and experienced 
directors. The Board as a whole appoints directors, who 
are subjected to an induction program. This process of 

the appointment is in line with the recommendations of 
King III.

Re-appointment to the board is not automatic, although 
directors may recommend themselves for re-election. 
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation at each 
annual general meeting of the company, one third of the 
non-executive directors shall retire from office. The names 
of the directors eligible for re-election are submitted 
at the annual general meeting shall be those directors 
whom have been longest in office. The names of the 
directors eligible for re-election that are submitted at the 
annual general meeting, accompanied by appropriate 
biographical details, as set out in the integrated report. 
The company has not adopted a retirement age for 
directors.

Company secretary

All directors have access to the advice and services of 
the company secretary. The company secretary, Fusion 
Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd, is represented 
by Melinda Gous. 

As highlighted in the board charter, the company 
secretary assists the board in meeting its fiduciary 
obligation to the shareholders. The company secretary is 
responsible for the functions specified in the Companies 
Act of 2008.  All meetings of shareholders, directors and 
board sub-committees are properly recorded, as per the 
requirements of the Act.  The company secretary also 
monitors the director’s dealings in securities and ensures 
adherence to closed periods when trading in SilverBridge 
shares.  
A formal evaluation on the company secretary was 
conducted by the chief executive officer on behalf of the 
board. The evaluation was in line with key legislative and 
governance principles and practices (Companies Act 
and King III). The evaluation included consideration on 
competence, knowledge, experience and qualifications 
of the company secretary, Fusion Corporate Secretarial 
Services (Pty) Ltd. 
In line with the provisions of paragraph 3.84 (i) of the JSE 
Listing Requirements, it is confirmed that the company 
secretary has combined qualifications that includes 
B.Comm Accounting and Law, LLB as well as Diplomas 
in Advanced Business and Securities Law. 

It is further confirmed that the company secretary has 
the requisite combined competence, knowledge and 
experience of collectively more than 10 years, to carry out 
the duties of a secretary of a public company. Considering 
the statutory duties imposed by the Companies Act, it is 
confirmed that the company secretary fulfilled the statutory 
duties in line with the statutes. 

Considering the best practise recommendations in King 
III with regards to the company secretary, it is confirmed 
that the company secretary acted in accordance with the 
best practise recommendations. In line with the provisions 
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of paragraph 3.84 (j) of the JSE listing requirements the 
board is satisfied that its relationship with the company 
secretary is independent and at an arm’s length, due to 
the following:

• the company secretary is not a director of the
company

• the company secretary does not represent a
material shareholder

• the company secretary does not hold any shares in
the company

• the company secretary is a separate independent
legal entity

• the company secretary attends all directors and
committee meetings by invitation; and

• open lines of communication are maintained
between the board and the Company Secretary
at all times.

Share dealings

A formal policy has been adopted whereby directors, 
employees, consultants and agents are prohibited from 
trading in the company’s securities during closed periods.  

These closed periods run from the end of the interim 
and annual reporting periods, until the financial results 
are disclosed on the Securities Exchange News Service 
(SENS). 
None of the aforementioned are permitted to trade in 
securities at any other time if they have access to price-
sensitive information, which is not in the public domain 
and whilst SilverBridge is trading under cautionary. 

Directors are required to obtain written clearance from the 
chairman prior to dealing in the company’s shares. The 
chairman is required to obtain approval from the chairman 
of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee before undertaking 
any share dealings. It is also mandatory for directors 
to notify the company secretary of any dealings in the 
company’s shares. This information is then disclosed 
on SENS within 48 hours of the trade being affected. 
Continuous reminders of closed periods are sent to the 
board of directors, the employees privy to price sensitive 
information, consultants and agents. 

There were no director dealings during the year.  

Committee structure

The board has delegated specific functions to 
committees, to assist the board in meeting their oversight 
responsibilities. The board has established standing 
committees in this regard. The board committees are 
constituted with sufficient non-executive representation.  
The board committees are subject to regular evaluation 
by the board, so as to ascertain their level of performance 
and effectiveness.  
All the committees acted in accordance with Board 
approved terms of reference, which are reviewed annually 

– allowing the directors to confirm whether or not the
committees have functioned in accordance with these 
written terms of reference during the financial year.

Below is the respective committee structures and 
attendance.  

• The Executive Committee report can be found
on page 26

• The Audit, Risk and IT committee report can be
found in the annual financial statements on page 40
to 42.

• The Social Ethics and Remuneration committee
report can be found on page 26

• There was no Nomination Committee meeting
held during the year and therefor no report.

• There was no Investment Committee meeting
held during the year and therefor no report.

Audit, Risk and IT Committee (ARITC)

The responsibilities of the IT Committee as prescribed by 
King III were incorporated to that of the Audit and Risk 
Committee as a result of the interrelation of the mandates 
of the different committees. 

Members

Mr J de Villiers Independent non-executive director and 
chairman

Mr R Emslie Independent non-executive director and 
member

Mr T Murray Non-executive director and member

The independent external auditors and the designated 
advisors attend the meetings as standing invitees. The 
chief executive officer and financial director attend the 
meetings by invitation.  The independent internal auditor 
attends the meetings when applicable.

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee met three times in 
the financial year. Attendance of committee meetings is 
available on page 20.

Analysis of shareholding

Please see the analysis of shareholding report on page 
36.

Social responsibility initiatives

Eaglenest Home for Orphans acts as a feeding scheme, 
drop-in centre and early child care development centre 
for approximately 140 children affected and/or infected 
with HIV and AIDS, in the Mofolo Village area in Soweto. 
Eaglenest has been registered as a non-profit organisation 
(NPO) with the Department of Social Development since 
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3 October 2006. The NPO has a constitution as prescribed 
by the Department of Social Development.

The workforce of SilverBridge Holdings made financial 
and other contributions to Eaglenest. Our employees 
have invested their time and energy in this local non-
profit organisation and have supported them on special 
occasions by organising and hosting various projects 
throughout the year.

Manong Youth Developers (MYD) is a Limpopo-based 
non-profit organisation (NPO/NGO), founded in August 
2007. The aim is to help develop young people in our rural 
communities through education, information and life skills; 
all of which will help enrich their lives and inspire them 
to realise and maximise their potential, so they can soar 
together as future leaders, economic role players and 
community developers who are progressively working to 
improve the living conditions of their people. 

MYD was founded by, consists of and is managed by a 
group of young people (students and young professionals) 
from the Ga-Rakgoadi region of the Limpopo province. 
SilverBridge has been involved with MYD initiatives over 
the past few years. 

Business enterprise development initiatives 

In 2010 SilverBridge afforded Junior Tsela the opportunity 
to start her own logistics and transportation management 
business (Silver Rainbow Logistics) as part of 
SilverBridge’s Business Enterprise Development initiative.

Silver Rainbow Logistics is a 100% female owned, 
BEE accredited Logistics Management Company. 
They are reliable, affordable and provide excellent 
business support services to small and medium sized 
businesses, corporates and the government. These 
services include office logistics (stationery supply and 
office management), transportation (shuttle services and 
deliveries), commercial cleaning and recycling projects.

Their aim is to create a positive social and economic 
impact through job creation and supporting existing 
businesses. They can achieve this by mastering support 
services and gradual service expansion.

New B-BBEE requirements

The new requirements for B-BBEE, especially with regards 
to businesses in the IT sector, will render our spending 
with all three these initiatives invalid for our rating.  We 
are not sure that this was the intention of the changes in 
the code, but it can in the long term cause destroy the 
valuable efforts that these organisations have made to 
reduce hardship and offer change to our society.  The 
management of SilverBridge is actively trying to find ways 
to limit the impact of the constraints that were created by 
the new rules.

As a proudly South African concern, SilverBridge supports 
the democratic system in South Africa – we do not, 
however, make donations to individual political parties. 

A going concern

The board is satisfied that the Group and company 
have adequate resources to continue operating for the 
next twelve months and into the foreseeable future. The 
financial statements presented have been prepared on a 
going concern basis. The board is apprised of the Group 
and company’s going concern status at each board 
meeting. 

Investor relations and communication with 
stakeholders

The Group strongly believes that communication with its 
stakeholders is vital.  Investor relations activities include 
interim and final results presentations to investors - 
available on the SilverBridge website.  

The Group will continue to have an interactive relationship 
with shareholders, investors, analysts and regulators.

Designated advisor

PSG Capital was appointed as the designated advisors of 
the Group on 1 February 2015 and remains as such.  

Transfer secretary

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd is the 
appointed transfer secretary to the Group. They assist 
with enquiries pertaining to shareholdings.  Shareholders 
can address shareholding related queries to PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown, South Africa, 2107. 

Political donations and affilliations
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Board 16 September 2015 16 November 2015 11 February 2016 9 June 2016

Jeremy de Villiers Present Present Present Present

Tyrrel Murray Present Present Present Present

Robert Emslie Present* Present Present Present

Jacobus Swanepoel Present Present Present Present

Hasheel Govind Absent Present Present Present

Lee Kuyper Present Present Present Present

Jocobeth Chikaonda Present Present Present Present

Stuart Blyth Present Present Present Present

Company Secretary Present Present Present Present

Summary of meetings held

Audit, Risk and IT Committee 28 August 2015 5 February 2016 20 May 2016

Jeremy de Villiers Present* Present* Present*

Tyrrel Murray Present* Present Present*

Robert Emslie Present* Present Present*

Company Secretary Present Present Present

Social, Ethics and Renumeration 
Committee 28 August 2015 5 February 2016 8 April 2016 31 May 2016

Jeremy de Villiers Present* Present* Present* Present*

Robert Emslie Present* Present Present* Present*

Company Secretary Present Present Present Present

* Teleconference
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King III Compliance

“Apply or explain” principle of King III 

The board supports the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as recommended by the King III Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2009 (“King III”). 

Although recent changes to the JSE Listings requirements require, companies listed on AltX to only report on the extent of 
compliance with chapter 2 of King III, the company has elected to provide an analysis of the application of all 75 corporate 
governance principles,  which is available on our website: www.silverbridge.co.za.

The report below contains a summary of SilverBridge’s application of the principles contained in Chapter 2 of King III.  
The board continues to consider the recommendations of King III with reference to the group and company’s size and 
stages of development. 

Principle of King III Comments Compliance

2.1 The board should act as the 
focal point for and custodian of 
corporate governance

All deliberations and decision making by the board 
is conducted with the highest standards of corporate 
governance in mind.  

The group applies this principle through compliance with 
the board charter and with the Companies Act

Comply

2.2 The board should appreciate 
that strategy, risk, performance 
and sustainability are 
inseparable

Quarterly review sessions are held where the group’s 
strategy, performance and risks are reviewed by the board 
to ensure the business remains sustainable

Comply

2.3 The board should provide 
effective leadership based on 
an ethical foundation

Effective and ethical leadership is entrenched in the board’s 
decision making. The board follows the principles of the 
company’s code of ethics, good corporate governance in 
terms of King III and the responsibilities in accordance with 
the Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee

Comply

2.4 The board should ensure that 
the company is and is seen 
to be a responsible corporate 
citizen

The board acknowledges that it is not merely responsible 
for the group’s financial bottom line, but rather for the 
group’s performance within the complete context in 
which it operates.  SilverBridge continues to support 
specific causes as reported in this integrated report in the 
governance section. The board also monitors such activities 
through the Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee

Comply

2.5 The board should ensure that 
the company’s ethics are 
managed effectively

The board adopted and endorses a Code of Ethics and 
Conduct for the group, which is reviewed on a regular basis 
and monitored through the Social, Ethics and Remuneration 
Committee

Comply
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Principle of King III Comments Compliance

2.6 The board should ensure that 
the company has an effective 
and independent audit 
committee

The Audit Committee (part of the ARITC) is comprised of 
two independent non-executive directors, one of whom 
is the chairman of the board. All of the members have 
the necessary skills and experience required of the audit 
committee. An audit charter and work plan have been 
implemented, and these are managed and updated 
continuously

Partially 
comply

2.7 The board should be 
responsible for the governance 
of risk

Quarterly review sessions are held where the group’s 
strategy, performance and risks are reviewed by the board 
to ensure the business remains sustainable

Comply

2.8 The board should be 
responsible for information 
technology (IT) governance

The board takes overall responsibility for IT governance.  
This has been incorporated into the IT Committee (part of 
the ARITC). A working group has been established which 
acts within the parameters of the company’s IT charter and 
reports back to the IT Committee on IT performance and 
risk management areas

Comply

2.9 The board should ensure that 
the company complies with 
applicable laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding rules, 
codes and standards

As part of the duties of the Social, Ethics and Remuneration 
Committee it represents the board on monitoring 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, as well 
as rules, codes and standards

Comply

2.10 The board should ensure that 
there is an effective risk-based 
internal audit function

The board implemented an effective risk based internal 
audit function by appointing Mr C Smith CA (SA) as the 
independent internal auditor.  
We confirm the following under the internal audit function:

• internal audit follows a risk based approach to its 
internal audit plan

• internal audit provided written assessments of the 
effectiveness of the group’s system of internal controls 
and risk management

• the Audit, Risk and IT Committee oversees the internal 
audit function

• internal audit is strategically positioned to achieve its 
objectives

Comply

2.11 The board should appreciate 
that stakeholders’ perceptions 
affect the company’s reputation

The company understands that communication with 
stakeholders in respect of financial and non-financial 
information is vital and open dialogue is actively pursued

Comply

2.12 The board should ensure the 
integrity of the company’s 
integrated report

The 2016 integrated report was reviewed by both the ARITC 
and the board of directors

Comply
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Principle of King III Comments Compliance

2.13 The board should report on the 
effectiveness of the company’s 
system of internal controls

The effectiveness of internal control is reviewed by the 
ARITC and any significant matters are reported in the 
integrated report. Management reports on an annual basis 
to the ARITC on the adequacy and operating effectiveness 
of entity level controls, financial report controls, fraud and 
risk controls, key account balances and key disclosure 
controls

Comply

2.14 The board and its directors 
should act in the best interests 
of the company

These principles are set out in the board charter Comply

2.15 The board should consider 
business rescue proceedings 
or other turnaround 
mechanisms as soon as 
the company is financially 
distressed as defined in the Act

The Board is aware of the requirements of the Companies 
Act regarding Business Rescue  

Not 
applicable

2.16 The board should elect a 
chairman of the board who is 
an independent non-executive 
director. The chief executive 
officer of the company should 
not also fulfil the role of 
chairman of the board

An independent non-executive chairman has been 
appointed

Comply

2.17 The board should appoint the 
chief executive officer and 
establish a framework for the 
delegation of authority

A delegation of authority policy and an authorisation matrix 
are in place for the group

Comply

2.18 The board should comprise 
a balance of power, with a 
majority of non-executive 
directors. The majority of non-
executive directors should be 
independent

SilverBridge has a unitary board structure, with eight 
directors. The board composition is as follows:

• Chief executive officer
• Financial director
• Executive director
• Independent non-executive chairman
• One independent non-executive director
• Four non-executive directors

Partial 
compliance
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Principle of King III Comments Compliance

2.19 Directors should be appointed 
through a formal process

Directors are appointed by means of a transparent 
and formal procedure, governed by the nomination 
committee’s terms of reference. The nomination committee 
is responsible for selecting and recommending the 
appointment of competent, qualified and experienced 
directors. The board as a whole appoints directors, who 
are subjected to an induction program. This process of the 
appointment is in line with the recommendations of King III. 

The Nomination Committee is not limited to non-executive 
directors as the chief executive officer assists the chairman 
of the board in considering of nominations. The board will 
consider the reconstitution of the committee in line with the 
requirements of the JSE Limited in the next year.

Re-appointment to the board is not automatic, although 
directors may recommend themselves for re-election. In 
terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation at each annual 
general meeting of the company, one third of the non-
executive directors shall retire from office.  The directors 
retiring at each annual general meeting shall be those 
directors whom have been longest in office.  The names 
of the directors eligible for re-election are submitted at 
the annual general meeting, accompanied by appropriate 
biographical details, as set out in the integrated report.  The 
company has not adopted a retirement age for directors. 
 

Comply

2.20 The induction of and ongoing 
training and   development of 
directors should be conducted 
through formal processes

All new directors are subjected to an induction program. 
The SilverBridge directors attend the AltX Director 
Induction Programme. SilverBridge remains committed to 
providing ongoing professional development and training 
opportunities for all our directors and officers. 

Comply

2.21 The board should be assisted 
by a competent, suitably 
qualified and experienced 
company secretary

A suitably competent and qualified company secretary 
is in place that assists the board in meeting its fiduciary 
obligation. The company secretary is evaluated annually. 
See report on page 17. 

Comply

2.22 The evaluation of the board, its 
committees and the individual 
directors should be performed 
every year

No formal assessment of the board was performed in the 
current period.  However, the chairman and chief executive 
officer review the board’s performance informally on an 
ongoing basis which includes monitoring the contribution 
of individual directors. The board will perform a formal 
assessment in the next financial period

Partial 
compliance
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Principle of King III Comments Compliance

2.23 The board should delegate 
certain functions to well-
structured committees but 
without abdicating its own 
responsibilities

Proper committees have been established and appointed. 
The following committees are in place:
• Audit Risk and IT Committee (ARITC)
• Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee (SERC)
• Investment Committee
• Nomination Committee
• Certain special purpose sub-committees from time to time

See Committee Reports on pages 40 to 45 

Comply

2.24 A governance framework 
should be agreed between the 
group and its subsidiary boards

The holding company and its subsidiaries operate as a 
single corporate group and subsidiaries are required to 
entrench the holding company governance framework 
within their day-to-day activities. No separate Board 
meetings are held on subsidiary level, however they are 
being dealt with sufficiently in the group board meetings

Comply

2.25 Companies should remunerate 
directors and executives fairly 
and responsibly

This principle is addressed at the Social , Ethics and 
Remuneration Committee meetings.  See the Social Ethics 
and Remuneration Committee Report on page 26 

Comply

2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior 
executives

The remuneration of each director has been disclosed in 
the Integrated Report

Comply

2.27 Shareholders should approve 
the company’s remuneration 
policy

The Social , Ethics and Remuneration Committee 
remunerates fairly according to the group’s remuneration 
policy which is set out in the integrated report and which 
provides that remuneration is based on basic salary, 
performance bonuses and share incentive schemes. This 
policy was established and is reviewed by the Social , 
Ethics and Remuneration Committee for recommendation 
to the board, which the board in turn recommended to the 
shareholders.  See page 26

Comply 
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Executive committee

Mr J Swanepoel 

Mr L Kuyper

Ms P Mostert

Mr S Blyth

Mr J Oberholzer

Ms C Steynberg

Mr C van der Berg

Mr B Burger

Mr P Ashton

Ms R Delport

Ms A Terblanche

Mr A Burger

Mr L da Silva

Ms R Wotela

Mr J Reyneke

The executive committee, which is responsible for the 
daily running of the group and the subsidiary companies, 
meets on a fortnightly basis; reviewing current operations 
in detail, developing strategy and policy proposals 
for consideration by the Board and monitoring the 
implementation of its directives.

Executive management and the board work closely 
together in determining the strategic objectives of the 
group. Authority has been delegated to the chief executive 
officer and the group executive committee by the board 
for the implementation of strategy and the ongoing 
management of the business. The board is apprised of 
progress through reporting at Board meetings and regular 
communication with management. 

The responsibilities of the group executive include: 

• monitoring and managing risk
• developing and implementing the group strategic 

plan
• determining human resources policies and practices
• preparing budgets and monitoring expenditure
• monitoring operational performance against agreed 

targets
• adhering to financial and capital management   

policies

Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee 
(SERC) Report

Members

Mr J de Villiers Independent non-executive director 
and chairman

Mr R Emslie Independent non-executive director 
and member

The chairman of the SERC has pleasure in submitting this 
report to you.  

The SERC met four times in the financial year.  The chief 
executive officer and financial director attended the 
meetings by invitation.  The chairman of this Committee 
reports to the board after every meeting held. The 
chairman of the committee attends annual general 
meetings to answer shareholder questions.  

Role of the SERC in relation to Remuneration

No executive directors participate in discussions 
regarding their own remuneration and benefits; neither do 
they have a vote at meetings.

The roles and responsibilities in relation to Remuneration 
includes, but are not limited to:

• overseeing the setting and administering of 
remuneration at all levels in the group

• overseeing the establishment of a remuneration  
policy that will promote the achievement of strategic 
objectives and encourage individual   
performance

• ensuring that the remuneration policy is put to   
a non-binding advisory vote at the general meeting 
of shareholders once every year

• reviewing the outcomes of the implementation of the 
remuneration policy for whether the set objectives 
are being achieved

• ensuring that the mix of fixed and variable pay, in 
cash, shares and other elements, meets the group’s 
needs and strategic objectives

• satisfy itself as to the accuracy of recorded 
performance measures that govern the vesting of 
incentives

• ensure that all benefits, including retirement benefits 
and other financial arrangements, are   
justified and correctly valued

• consider the results of the evaluation of the 
performance of the chief executive officer and other 
executive directors, both as a directors and as 
executives in determining remuneration
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• select an appropriate comparative group when 
comparing remuneration levels

• regularly review incentive schemes to ensure   
continued contribution to shareholder value and   
that these are administered in terms of the rules

• consider the appropriateness of early vesting of 
share-based schemes at the end of employment

• advise on the remuneration of non-executive 
directors

• oversee the preparation and recommending to the 
board the remuneration report, to be included in the 
integrated report, for whether it: 

a. is accurate, complete and transparent
b. provides a clear explanation of how   
 the remuneration policy has been implemented
c. provides sufficient forward-looking information  
 for the shareholders to pass a special resolution  
 in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act,  
 2008

Remuneration structure

• The remuneration structure is delegated as follows:
• the SERC approves executive director remuneration
• the SERC approves executive committee members’  

remuneration, as proposed by management 
• the SERC approves subsidiary directors’ fees, as 

proposed by management
• management approves employees’ remuneration

Group remuneration philosophy

The group’s remuneration philosophy complements 
its business strategy. The group employs high-calibre 
individuals with integrity, intellect and a sense of 
innovation. It is fundamental to our business culture that all 
employees subscribe to the values, ethics and philosophy 
of SilverBridge. 

The remuneration of the board, executive members and 
employees is fair and market related. The board, with 
the assistance of the Social, Ethics and Remuneration 
Committee, will maintain this approach, so as to attract 
and retain suitable employees and board members – to 
the benefit of the stakeholders. The board acknowledges 
the importance of motivating individual and team 
performance and therefore applies its remuneration 
philosophy equitably, fairly and consistently in relation 
to job responsibilities, the markets in which the group 
operates and personal performance.  

The group rewards executive directors and employees as 
follows:
• market related and fair annual packages (base salary 

and benefits)
• annual performance bonuses
• SilverBridge employee share ownership and share 

incentive schemes

Annual performance bonus

In addition to the employee’s fixed remuneration package, 
all staff members participate in an annual performance 
bonus scheme - to reward the achievement of agreed 
group financial, strategic and personal performance 
objectives. 

Employee share ownership and share incentive 
schemes

The SilverBridge employee share ownership and share 
incentive schemes were approved by shareholders on 
3 July 2009 and amendments thereto were approved on 
25 June 2010. 

These schemes were introduced for the purpose of 
providing an opportunity to the employees of the group 
to acquire shares - either directly, through utilising bonus 
schemes implemented by the company from time to time, 
or through the grant of options. The schemes provide an 
incentive for employees to actively advance the interests 
of the group, to the ultimate benefit of the group’s 
stakeholders.  

There were no share options granted during the period 
under review.  

Employees 

Approximately 15% of the group’s employees are from 
historically disadvantaged backgrounds. As SilverBridge 
mainly employs graduates, we have noted with satisfaction 
the increasing levels of suitably qualified people from 
historically disadvantaged backgrounds graduating from 
South African Universities. 

At SilverBridge, we promote a healthy, secure and 
participative social and working environment for our staff, 
business associates and (wherever appropriate) the 
public at large.

Training and promotion

SilverBridge launched a learnership and internship 
program for previously disadvantaged individuals in 
2010. The table below details the number of positions per 
skill type developed through the two programs and our 
current intake. 

The internship program will be expanded to include 
a program for our specialised position of product 
implementation consultants (with an actuarial 
science background). This will be incorporated in the 
current learnership program focussing on previously 
disadvantaged individuals.
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Principle SilverBridge’s Application

The 10 principles set out in the United Global Compact 
Principles  and the OECD recommendations regarding 
corruption 

SilverBridge adheres to the principles set out in the UNGCP and 
the OECD recommendations on corruption. 

The Employment Equity Act  SilverBridge meets the labour law requirements of the 
Employment Equity Act and has formal policies on bribery and 
corruption and protected disclosures.

The Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act SilverBridge subscribes to the provisions of the Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment Act and is a level 3 B-BBEE 
contributor.

Good Corporate Citizenship, including the company’s:

• promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, 
and reduction of corruption

• contribution to development of the communities in which its 
activities are predominantly conducted or within which its 
products and services are predominantly conducted

• record of sponsorship, donation and charitable giving

SilverBridge subscribes to the provisions of the Promotion 
of Equality and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act.  No 
incidents have been reported.  

The environment, health and public safety, including the impact 
of the company’s activities and of its products or services

SilverBridge subscribes to and is compliant with the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act.  No incidents have been 
reported.  

SilverBridge  |  2016 Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements

Position Type 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Tester/Developer Internship 1 1 1

Business Administration 
Learnership Learnership 2 2 2 1 1 1

Product Configurators Internship 4 2 1 2 4

Technical intern Learnership 1 1

HR Assistant Learnership Advanced Learnershp 1 1

Financial intern Internship 1 1 1

Total 7 5 3 4 6 7

Role of the SERC in relation to Social and Ethics 

SilverBridge values its reputation and is committed to maintaining the highest level of ethical standards in the conduct of 
its business affairs. 

The Committee continued to monitor the group’s activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, other legal 
requirements or prevailing codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to social and economic development, 
including the group’s standing in terms of the goals and purposes of:
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Principle SilverBridge’s Application

Consumer relationships, including the group’s advertising, 
public relations and compliance with consumer protection laws

SilverBridge subscribes to and is compliant with the Consumer 
Protection Act.  No incidents have been reported.  

Labour and Employment, including:

• the group’s standing in terms of the International Labour 
Organisation Protocol on decent work and working 
conditions

• the group’s employment relationships, and its contribution 
towards the educational development of its employees

SilverBridge supports and adheres to the terms of the 
International Labour Organisation Protocol.  SilverBridge is 
compliant with the following Acts:

• Basic Conditions of Employment Act No 75 of 1997
• Labour Relations Act No. 66 of 1995
• Skills and Development Levies Act No. 9 of 1999
• Unemployment Insurance Act No. 63 of 2001

There was no need for the Committee to draw any matter within its mandate to the attention of the Board.
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Operational Overview

Revenue R Millions Annuity income R Millions

Operating profit R’000 HEPS (cents)

Cash R’000
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Summary of financial information: 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2012
R’000

Revenue 86 442            80 943            83 844            82 247            82 576 

Other income 152 15                 430                 316                 590 

Personnel expenses (57 527)          (55 161)          (57 730)          (60 279)          (66 931) 

Depreciation and amortisation (1 395)             (1 699)             (2 198)             (2 990)             (3 058) 

Professional fees paid for services (5 666)             (4 246)             (3 892)             (4 117)             (4 885) 

Other expenses (9 969)             (8 840)          (12 159)          (11 962)          (12 395) 

Operating profit/(loss) 12 037            11 012              8 295              3 215             (4 103) 

Impairment loss recognised on non-financial assets   - -   -   -                  (466) 

Impairment loss recognised on withholding tax - -   -   -               (2 140) 

Loss on disposal of subsidiary - -   -   -                  (668) 

Loss on disposal of associate - -   -   -   (76) 

Finance income 1 367 468 167 182 156 

Finance expenses (250) (1) (27)                (310)                (164) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax 13 154            11 479              8 435              3 087             (7 461) 

Income tax (expense) /income (3 064)             (3 136)             (2 516)                (765) 858 

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive  income for the period 10 090              8 343              5 919              2 322             (6 603) 

Consolidated statement of financial position
ASSETS

Non-current assets 15 810            14 766            15 086            14 808            17 938 

Current assets            37 191            27 429            17 910            16 454 

Income tax receivable 802 -   -                1 102 833 

Withholding tax rebates receivable 1 312              1 511 953 -   -   

Revenue recognised not yet invoiced 4 737              2 684              6 635              1 297 712 

Trade and other receivables 13 422            14 782            11 907            12 308            10 388 

Cash and cash equivalents 26 956            18 214              7 934              3 203              4 521 

Total assets 63 039            51 957            42 515            32 718            34 392 

Equity 47 988            39 188            30 501            24 229            21 462 

Non-current liabilities 1 098 308 30 -   -   

Current liabilities 13 953        12 461        11 984           8 489        12 930 

Total liabilities 15 051            12 769            12 014              8 489            12 930 

Total equity and liabilities            51 957            42 515            32 718            34 392 

47 229

63 039
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2013
R’000

2012
R’000

Cash generated (utilised in)/from operations 15 455 12 817 7 858 157 (7 841)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 12 928 11 922 6 742 (94) (8 632)

Net cash used in investing activities (2 448) (1 642) (2 011) (1 224) (3 346)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (1 738) - - - (1)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash  equivalents 8 742 10 280 4 731 (1 318) (11 979)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 18 214 7 934 3 203 4 521 16 500

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 26 956 18 214 7 934 3 203 4 521

Integrated performance indicators

OBJECTIVE

Financial (R'000)

Revenue 86 442 80 943 83 844 82 247 82 576

Operating profit 12 037 11 012 8 295 3 215 (4 103)

Headline earnings per share 29.1 24.1 17.01 7.56 (19.04)

Cash 26 956 18 214 7 934 3 203 4 521

Work in progress 4 339 2 056 6 293 (384) (4 645)

BEE Score (Level 3) (Level 4) (Level 5) (Level 4) (Level 4)

Total Employees 88 78 81 85 99
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The group and company’s financial statements and financial statements have been audited in compliance with S30 of the Companies 
Act of South Africa 2008.
These Annual Financial Statements were prepared by Petro Mostert (CA) SA (Head of Finance and Shared Services) and under the 
guidance and supervision of Lee Kuyper (CA) SA (Financial Director).

The Annual Financial Statements were published on 19 September 2016.
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Shareholder Analysis
Shareholder spread (Strate)

 As at 30 June 2016 No. of 
shareholders 

Percentage of  
shareholders No. of shares Percentage of 

shares
0 – 1 000 Shares 231 47% 83 977 0%
1 001 – 10 000 Shares 172 34% 691 634 3%
10 001 – 100 000 Shares 68 14% 2 247 423 11%
100 001 – 500 000 Shares 16 3% 3 469 038 17%
500 001 – 1 000 000 Shares and Over 8 2% 14 226 917 69%
Sub Total 495 100% 20 718 989 100%

Shareholder spread (Certificated)

0 – 1 000 Shares 44 53% 20 675 0%
1 001 – 10 000 Shares 32 39% 103 350 1%
10 001 – 100 000 Shares 5 6% 165 000 1%
100 001 – 500 000 Shares and Over - - - -
500 001 – 1 000 000 Shares and Over 2 2% 13 773 457 98%
Sub Total 83 100% 14 062 482 100%
Total 578 100% 34 781 471 100%

Public and non-public shareholders
Non – Public Shareholders 8 1% 23 874 453 69%
Public Shareholders 570 99% 10 907 018 31%
Total 578 100% 34 781 471 100% 

Major Shareholders
Beneficial shareholders holding other than as a director, directly or indirectly beneficially interested in 5% or more.

As at 30 June 2016 No. Of Shares %

CShell 448 Proprietary Limited * 11 519 457 33%
NMT Group Proprietary Limited 2 346 000 7%
Cannon asset managers 1 736 765 5%

* CShell 448 Proprietary Limited is 51% owned by Kagiso Tiso Holdings Proprietary Limited (RF) and 49% by MMI Holdings (Limited)

Note: No significant change in these interests occurred between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report.
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Directors’ Interest

The direct and indirect beneficial interests of the directors in the Company’s securities as at the date of the financial year-
end, are as follows: 

As at 30 June 2016 Beneficial Direct Beneficial Indirect Total Beneficial 
Percentage

R Emslie 694 876 – 2.00%
J Swanepoel 7 471 115 – 21.48%
J de Villiers  –  –  0.00%
S Blyth* – – 0.00%
H Govind   –  –  0.00%
L Kuyper   –  –  0.00%
T Murray  –  –  0.00%
J Chickaonda –  – 0.00%

Total 8 165 991 – 23.48%

As at 30 June 2015 Beneficial Direct Beneficial Indirect Total Beneficial 
Percentage

R Emslie 694 876 – 2.00%
J Swanepoel 7 471 115 – 21.48%
J de Villiers  –  –  0.00%
S Blyth* – – 0.00%
H Govind   –  –  0.00%
L Kuyper   –  –  0.00%
T Murray  –  –  0.00%
J Chickaonda –  – 0.00%

Total 8 165 991 – 23.48%

 * Appointed 12 February 2015

Note:  No change in these interests occured between the end of the financial year and the date of this report



SilverBridge  |  2016 Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements38

PART 5
Directors’ Responsibility

Statement
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2016

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity of the company and group annual financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the company and group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are 
engaged to express an independent opinion on the company’s and group’s annual financial statements.

The company and group annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by 
the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council, and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 
the company and group and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable 
the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company and group and all employees are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s and group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company and group is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company and group. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the company and group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
company and group annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s and group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 30 June 2017 and, in light 
of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company and group has or had access to 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has been integrated into company and group strategies and operations. 

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company’s and group’s annual 
financial statements. The company and group annual financial statements have been examined by the company’s and 
group’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 46.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all 
meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the board. The board believe that all representations 
made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The company and group annual financial statements and additional schedules set out on pages 34 to 109, which have 
been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the board on 16 September 2016 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

Jaco Swanepoel 
SilverBridge Chief Executive Officer

Lee Kuyper
SilverBridge Financial Director

CERTIFICATION BY COMPANY SECRETARY
In terms of section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
Silverbridge Holdings Limited has lodged with the Commissioner all such returns and notices as are required by the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and that all such returns and notices appear to be true, correct and up to date.

Melinda Gous
Company Secretary 
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Audit, Risk and IT Committee report

Dear Shareholder

The Chairman of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee, Mr J de Villiers, has pleasure in submitting this report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2016 in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa 2008 and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

The Audit, Risk and IT committee continued to act in accordance with an approved terms of reference.  

Audit, Risk and IT Committee Members

Mr J de Villiers Independent non-executive director and chairman

Mr R Emslie Independent non-executive director and member

Mr T Murray Non-executive director and member

The independent external auditors and the designated advisors attend the meetings as standing invitees. 

The Company Secretary of the group is the secretary of the Committee and attends all meetings. The CEO and Financial 
Director attend the meetings by invitation.  

In terms of the Companies Act of South Africa 2008, shareholders are required to elect the members of this Committee 
at each annual general meeting. The appointment of J de Villiers, R Emslie and T Murray were approved previously and 
the membership is again subject to shareholders re-electing them as members of the Committee at the annual general 
meeting, to be held on Wednesday, 26 October 2016 at 11h00.

The proposed members of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee have the necessary academic qualifications and experience.  
Principle 3.2.1 of King III recommends that all members of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee be independent non-
executive directors and that the chairman of the Board may not be a member of the Committee. 

Mr J de Villiers, an independent non-executive director served as the chairman of the Committee and was nominated for 
re-election to this Committee.   

Mr T Murray, a non-executive director, served on the Audit, Risk and IT Committee and was nominated for re-election to 
this Committee. Mr T Murray continued throughout the year and applied his mind independently to matters relating to the 
Audit, Risk and IT Committee.  We confirm that Mr. T Murray does not hold any shares in his personal name neither does 
he have any indirect beneficial interests in the shareholding.  

Mr R Emslie, the independent non-executive chairman of the Board continued to serve as a member of the Audit, Risk and 
IT Committee.  He was nominated for re-election to serve on this Committee. The Board through its nomination committee 
is in the process of recruiting more independent non-executive directors to serve on the Audit, Risk and IT Committee. 
Biographical details of the Committee members appear on pages 12 and 13.

Fees paid to the committee members are detailed on pages 88, and the proposed fees for 2017 are disclosed on page 
103.

Meetings

The Committee meets at least three times per annum. The chairman of the Committee verbally reports to the Board after 
every Audit, Risk and IT Committee meeting held. Details of Committee meeting attendance is available on page 20.

Additional Committee meetings may be convened when necessary.
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The Committee’s role

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee is a statutory Committee, with a role and responsibility as outlined by Section 94 of 
the Companies Act, the recommendations set out in King III and the JSE Listings Requirements. The Audit, Risk and IT 
Committee has an independent role, and is accountable to the Board. 

External auditor independence

The Committee is mandated to ensure that the appointment of the auditor complies with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, and any other legislation relating to the appointment of external auditors. The Committee, in line with section 90 of the 
Companies Act, considered the independence of the external auditors and was satisfied with it.  It was confirmed that the 
audit firm, and designated auditor, are accredited and appear on the JSE list of accredited auditors.

The Committee recommended the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the independent registered audit 
firm, with the individual registered auditor as Deon Storm.  

Fees paid to external auditors, and terms of engagement

The Committee determines the fees to be paid to the auditor, as well as the auditor’s terms of engagement.

The approved, normal annual audit fee for the financial year under review amounted to R 655 000. The Committee 
authorised the fee, after a clearly defined scope was agreed upon by the company and the external auditors.  

During the external audit evaluation process, the Audit, Risk and IT committee considered various criteria including:

• audit planning
• technical abilities
• audit process and outputs
• quality control
• business insight
• independence and general factors

Non-Audit Services

The Committee is to determine the nature and extent of any non-audit services that the auditor may provide to the 
company.  There were non-audit services approved and provided for the year under review amounting to R 211 049.

Evaluation of the annual financial statements

As part of its report to the Board, the Audit, Risk and IT Committee commented on the company and group financial 
statements, the accounting practices and the internal financial controls of the company. The Committee stays abreast of 
current and emerging trends in accounting standards.

The Committee confirms that they have reviewed and discussed the company and group  financial statements with the 
independent external auditor and Financial Director. The external auditor has unrestricted access to the company’s and 
group’s records and management. The auditor furnishes a written report to the Committee on significant findings, arising 
from the annual audit and is able to raise matters of concern directly with the chairman of the Committee. There were no 
limitations imposed on the scope of the external audit.

The Committee has reviewed the company and group financial statements of the company, and is satisfied that they 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the SAICA 
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. 

The Committee did not receive any concerns or complaints, within or outside the company, relating to the accounting 
practices and internal audit of the company and group, the content or auditing of the company’s and group’s financial 
statements, the internal financial controls of the company, or any related matter.

After agreeing that the going concern premise was appropriate, the Committee recommended the adoption of the annual 
financial statements by the Board at a Board meeting held on 14 September 2016. These company and group financial 
statements will be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The chairman of the Committee, and 
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in the instance of his absence, another member of the Committee, will attend the annual general meeting to answer 
questions falling under the mandate of the Committee.

Expertise and experience of the Financial Director and finance function

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee has executed its responsibility in terms of paragraph 3.84(h) of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, and confirms that it was satisfied with the expertise and the experience of the Financial Director, 
Mr L Kuyper.   

The Committee was satisfied with the overall expertise and adequacy of resources in the finance department, as well as 
the experience of the senior members of management responsible for it.

Internal audit

Internal audit activity is governed by an internal audit charter which was approved by the Audit, Risk and IT Committee 
and is reviewed annually. The charter defines the purpose, authority and responsibilities of the function.

The head of internal audit reports at each Audit, Risk and IT Committee meeting and has a direct reporting line to the 
chairman of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee. Internal audit operates independently of executive management but has 
access to the Chief Executive Officer and Financial Director. Internal audit conducts a formal risk assessment of the entire 
business annually, from which a comprehensive risk-based internal audit plan is derived.  

Significant control weaknesses are reported. We confirm that there were no significant control weaknesses during the 
year under review.  

The Board, as a whole, also considers internal controls. While considering the information and explanations given by 
management, as well as discussions held with the external auditor on audit results and internal audit, the Committee is 
of the opinion that the system of internal financial controls is effective, and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable 
financial statements.  

Risk management

The Board is responsible for the risk management process, whilst management is accountable to the Board for designing, 
implementing and monitoring the process of risk management in the day-to-day activities of the company and the group. 

The Committee has a duty to:
• Review risk management policies and processes
• Review risk philosophy, strategies and policies
• Ensure risk management is integrated into business operations
• Ensure management considers and implements appropriate risk responses
• Evaluate the basis and adequacy of insurance cover
• Ensure internal audit is aligned with risk management processes
• Identify emerging areas of risk
• Ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, including King lll
• Identify areas of governance non-compliance and propose remedial action

After considering the risk matrix, the Committee has nothing material to report. 

Integrated Reporting

The Committee oversaw the integrated reporting process.

Approval of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee report

The Committee confirms that it has functioned in accordance with its terms of reference for the 2016 financial year, and 
that its report to shareholders has been approved by the Board

J de Villiers
SilverBridge Audit, Risk and IT committee Chairman
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting the company and group annual financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings 
Limited for the year ended 30 June 2016.

1. Distinction between the Group and the Company

 The annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 comprise:
 i. the Company financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited (herein referred to as the   
  Company or SilverBridge); and
 ii. the Group financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, (herein referred to as the Group).
 
2. Nature of the business

The Group comprises a group of companies providing business solutions to the financial services industry.   
The Group consists of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited operating 
specifically in the long term insurance market, Connect Software Services, Proprietary Limited the group’s 
implementation and support division and Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited, that provides IT 
consulting services to the banking sector and  the SilverBridge Employee Share Trust. The Group is a highly 
specialised information technology and telecommunication (ITC) sector entity focusing on financial services 
operating in South Africa and Africa.

SilverBridge Holdings Limited is the legal holding company, a strategic investment company and the provider 
of shared services to the group of companies.  This restructuring of the shared services to the Company arised 
during the prior financial year.

3. Subsidiaries of the Group

 Details of the Group’s subsidiaries and related entities are reflected in note 26: Related parties to the financial  
 statements.

4. Share capital

 The authorised share capital of the Company comprises 200 000 000 (2015: 200 000 000) ordinary shares of  
 1 cent per share. The Memorandum of Incorporation was amended to effect the conversion of the wording no  
 par value shares to par value shares. Refer to the notice to the AGM.

 The issued share capital of the Company comprises 34 781 471 (2015: 34 781 471) ordinary shares of 1 cent  
 per share.

5. Group structure

SilverBridge is the ultimate legal holding company of Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited owning 100% 
of its equity share capital (2015: 100%), Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited owning 100% of its 
equity share capital (2015: 100%), Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited owning 100% of its equity share 
capital (2015: 100%) and of the SilverBridge Employee Share Trust owing 100% of its Trust capital (2015: 100%). 

6. Financial results for the year

 The financial results of the Group and Company for the year under review are detailed in the annual financial  
 statements.

7. Going concern

The directors have reviewed the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ budgets and cash flow forecasts for the 
year to 30 June 2017. On the basis of this review, although the Company’s current liabilities exceed the current 
assets at 30 June 2016, the directors are satisfied that the Company and its subsidiaries will continue to operate 
for the foreseeable future and have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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8. Distributions to shareholders

The directors have declared and approved a final gross dividend of 6 cents on 14 September 2016 for the year 
ended 30 June 2016 from income reserves. The directors approved a final dividend of 5 cents on 16 September 
2015 for the year ended 30 June 2015 and the payment distributions were made during the year under review.

9. Treasury shares
 

There are 106 240 (2015: 106 240) ordinary shares held by Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited in 
SilverBridge. 

10. Subsequent events

Other than the dividend distribution referred to above, no events occurred subsequent to the year end that 
would require adjustment to a disclosure on the company or group financial statements.

11. Borrowing powers

The borrowing powers of directors are governed by section 46 and 47 of the Memorandum of Incorporation.  
The directors may borrow or raise for the purposes of the Company such sums as they deem necessary. They 
are allowed to raise or secure the payment or repayment of such moneys in such manner and upon such terms 
and conditions as they think fit.  The directors shall cause a proper register to be kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act of all mortgages and charges specifically affecting the assets of the Company.

12. Directorate

 The directors of the Company during the accounting period and up to the date of this report are summarised  
 as follows: 

Name Designation Appointment date Resignation date

R Emslie Independent Non-executive 
Chairman 17 January 2011 -

J Swanepoel Chief Executive Officer 30 December 2005 -

J de Villiers Independent Non-executive 
director 2 October 2008 -

S Blyth Executive director 12 February 2015 -

J Chikaonda Non-executive director 25 June 2014 -

H Govind Non-executive director 14 November 2012 -

L Kuyper Financial Director 5 September 2012 -

T Murray Non-executive director 25 February 2009 -

   All the directors are South African citizens.



45

 
13. Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited, represented by Ms M 
Gous.

 
 The business and postal addresses of the Company Secretary are as follows:

 Business address:   Postal address:
 56 Regency Road   PO Box 68528
 Route 21 Corporate Park   Highveld
 Irene, Pretoria, Gauteng   0169

 The statutory documentation of SilverBridge is held at the business address of the Company Secretary.

14.  Auditors

The Group auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated, with Mr Deon Storm being the individual 
registered auditor. PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated were appointed to audit the financial statements of 
the company and group as at 30 June 2016 in terms of a directors’ resolution.

 
 The business and postal addresses of the auditors are as follows:

 Business address:   Postal address:
 2 Eglin Road    Private Bag X36
 Sunninghill    Sunnighill 
 Johannesburg    Johannesburg
 2157     2157

15. Registered offices

 The registered offices of both the group and company are as follows:

 Business address:   Postal address:
 First Floor Castle View North  PO Box 11799
 495 Prieska Street   Erasmuskloof 
 Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, Gauteng  0048
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the group and company financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited set out on pages 47 to 95, which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2016, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of SilverBridge Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2016, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016, we have read the Directors’ 
Report, the Audit, Risk and IT Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there 
are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are the 
responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these 
reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do 
not express an opinion on these reports.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that   
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of SilverBridge Holdings Limited for 1 year. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Director: D Storm

Registered Auditor 

Sunninghill

16 September 2016
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Group Company

 Notes
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Revenue 7 86 442 80 943 29 857 7 579

Other income 8.1 152 15 140 3 858

Personnel expenses 8.2 (57 527) (55 161) (15 577) (3 616)

Depreciation and amortisation 8.3 (1 395) (1 699) (137) (8)

Professional fees paid for services 8.4 (5 666) (4 246) (5 478) (1 259)

Other expenses 8.5 (9 969) (8 840) (8 130) (3 029)

Results from operating activities 12 037 11 012 675 3 525

Finance income 9 1 367 468 5 228

Finance expenses 10 (250) (1) - (1)

Profit before income tax 13 154 11 479 680 3 752

Income tax 11 (3 064) (3 136) 525 306

Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year

10 090 8 343 1 205 4 058

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 12.1 29.1 24.1

Diluted earnings per share 12.3 27.5 23.7



SilverBridge  |  2016 Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements48

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
at 30 June 2016

Group Company

 Notes
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
ASSETS

Non-current assets 15 810 14 766 55 020 53 679
Equipment 13 983 992 633 184
Intangible assets and goodwill 14 12 371 11 286 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 15 – – 53 538 53 189
Deferred tax assets 17 1 266 441 849 306
Withholding tax rebates receivable 22 1 190 2 047 – –

Current assets 47 229 37 191 4 934 4 204
Withholding tax rebates receivable 22 1 312 1 511 – –
Income tax receivable 802 – 126 –
Revenue recognised not yet invoiced 4 737 2 684 – –
Trade and other receivables 18 13 422 14 782 3 314 4 130
Cash and cash equivalents 19 26 956 18 214 1 494 74
Total assets 63 039 51 957 59 954 57 883

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 47 988 39 188 34 030 34 115
Share capital 20.1.2 348 348 348 348
Share premium 20.1.6 11 871 11 871 67 445 67 445
Treasury shares (197) (197) – –
Share based payment reserve 910 462 910 462
Retained earnings/(Accumulated loss) 35 056 26 704 (34 673) (34 140)

Non-current liabilities 1 098 308 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 17 1 098 308 – –

Current liabilities 13 953 12 461 25 924 23 768
Income tax payable 1 791 1 785 – –
Trade and other payables 21 11 764 10 048 4 597 2 895
Loans from related parties 21 - – 21 327 20 873
Deferred revenue 398 628 – –
Total liabilities 15 051 12 769 25 924 23 768
Total equity and liabilities 63 039 51 957 59 954 57 883
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Share 
capital 
R’000

Share 
premium 

R’000

Treasury 
shares

R’000

Share 
based

payment
reserve

R’000

Retained
earnings

R’000

Total
equity
R’000

Group
Balance at 1 July 2014 348 11 871 (197) 512 17 967 30 501
Total comprehensive income for the 
year
Profit for the year – – – – 8 343 8 343
Total comprehensive income for the 
year

– – – – 8 343 8 343

Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity:
Contributions by and distributions to 
owners
Equity settled share based payment – – – 344 – 344

Transfer of reserve of share options 
that did not vest

– – – (394) 394 –

Total transactions with owners – – – (50) 394 344
Balance at 30 June 2015 348 11 871 (197) 462 26 704 39 188
Total comprehensive income for the 
year
Profit for the year – – – – 10 090 10 090
Total comprehensive income for the 
year

– – – – 10 090 10 090

Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity:
Dividend paid (1 738) (1 738)

Equity settled share based payment – – – 448 – 448

Total transactions with owners – – – 448 (1 738) (1 290)
Balance at 30 June 2016 348 11 871 (197) 910 35 056 47 988
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Issued 
capital 
R’000

Share 
premium 

R’000

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

R’000

Accumu-
lated loss

Total
equity
R’000

Company

Balance at 1 July 2014 348 67 445 512 (38 592) 29 713
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – – 4 058 4 058
Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 4 058 4 058
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in 
equity:

 

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Equity settled share based payment – – 344 – 344
Transfer of reserve of share options that did not 
vest

– – (394) 394 –

Total transactions with owners – – (50) 394 344
Balance at 30 June 2015 348 67 445 462 (34 140) 34 115
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – – 1 205 1 205
Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 1 205 1 205
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in 
equity:
Dividend paid (1 738) (1 738)
Equity settled share based payment – – 448 – 448
Total transactions with owners – – 448 (1 738) (1 290)
Balance at 30 June 2016 348 67 445 910 (34 673) 34 030
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Group Company   

 Notes
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Cash generated from operations 23.1 15 455 12 817 3 429 2 572
Interest received 1 367 468 5 228
Interest paid – (1) – (1)
Dividend received – – – 3 858

Taxation paid 23.2 (3 894) (1 362) (145) –
Net cash inflow from/(used in) operating activities 12 928 11 922 3 289 6 657
Cash flows from investing activities
Equipment acquired to maintain operations 13 (585) (476) (585) (192)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 23 – – –
Cash outflow with capitalisation of development 
costs

14 (1 886) (1 166) – –

Net cash used in investing activities (2 448) (1 642) (585) (192)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase in loan from Rubix Digital Solutions – – 454 535

Decrease in loan from Cirrus Managed Services – – – (2 894)
Decrease/(Increase) in loan to Connect Software 
Services

– – – (4 106)

Dividends paid (1 738) – (1 738)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (1 738) – (1 284) (6 465)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8 742 10 280 1 420 –
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year

18 214 7 934 74 74

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 26 956 18 214 1 494 74
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2016

1.  REPORTING ENTITY

SilverBridge Holdings Limited (Registration number: 1995/006315/06) is a company domiciled in the Republic of South 
Africa. The financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2016 comprise the financial statements of the 
Company as well as the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” 
and individually as ”Group entities”). 

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Going concern

The directors have reviewed the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year to 30 June 
2017. On the basis of this review, although the Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets at 30 June 2016, the 
directors are satisfied that the Company and its subsidiaries will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and have 
adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

2.2 Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the SAICA Financial Reporting 
Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council, and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 14 September 2016.

2.3 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

2.4 Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented has been rounded to the nearest thousand (R’000) except when otherwise indicated.

2.5 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS’s requires management to make judgments, estimations 
and assumptions about the future events that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. The determination of estimates therefore 
requires the exercise of judgment based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical experience as well 
as current and anticipated economic conditions.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Historically, actual results have not deviated 
materially from those determined using the estimates described above. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

2.5.1 Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has, apart from judgments involving estimations, 
made the following judgments, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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2.5.1.1 Cash generating unit to which goodwill is allocated for impairment testing

With regard to the annual impairment test performed on the goodwill balance of the Group, Rubix Digital Solutions, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary, was identified as the smallest cash generating unit within the Group that will generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (see note 14.2).

2.5.1.2 Unrecognised deferred tax asset on assessed loss
 
The unrecognized deferred tax asset relates to tax losses incurred by SilverBridge Holdings Limited.

2.5.2 Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the year-end that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are discussed below.

2.5.2.1 Impairment of goodwill

The determination of whether goodwill is impaired is performed at least annually. This requires an estimation of the value 
in use of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to 
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and to choose a suitable discount 
rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The detailed estimations used to determine whether goodwill is 
impaired are set out in note 14: Intangible assets and goodwill.

2.5.2.2 Deferred taxation assets

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available in the future 
against which the deferred taxation asset can be utilised. The future taxable profits are estimated based on business 
plans which include estimates and assumptions regarding economic growth, interest, inflation and taxation rates and 
competitive market forces. For further detail see note 17: Deferred tax assets and liabilities.

2.5.2.3 Capitalisation of development costs

Development costs are capitalised to the extent that it is probable that future economic benefits will be generated from the 
developed assets. The probability and extent of future economic benefits are determined by management’s estimations 
of the market’s needs or internal usage of such an asset, estimations of the future benefits which will flow from selling 
the asset or using such asset internally, to result in cost savings. The detail on such development costs capitalised is 
presented in note 14: Intangible assets and goodwill.

2.5.2.4 Useful lives of equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill

The estimation of the useful lives of equipment and intangible assets is based on historic performance as well as 
expectations about future use and therefore requires a degree of judgment to be applied by management. These 
depreciation and amortisation rates represent management’s current best estimate of the useful lives of the assets.

Residual values and useful lives of equipment are reviewed annually. Adjustments to residual values will affect the 
depreciation and amortisation charge for the reporting period in which the change occurs and future reporting periods.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies included below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these Group and 
Company financial statements and have been applied consistently by all group entities. 

3.1 Basis of consolidation

3.1.1  Business combinations 

The Group financial statements comprise the financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, the legal holding 
company and its subsidiaries as at the end of the year of each year presented.
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The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group 
(see 3.1.2).  The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net 
assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment (see 3.5.2).  Any gain on a bargain purchase 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately.  Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of 
debt or equity securities in which case it is capitalised.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.  Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for in equity.  Otherwise, subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit of loss.

If share-based payment awards (replacement rewards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s 
employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in 
measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based 
measure of the replacement awards compared to the market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to 
which the replacement awards relate to pre-combination services.

The Group did not enter into any business combination during the current or prior financial year.

3.1.2  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns for its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

3.1.3 Investments in subsidiary companies in the Company financial statements

The investments in the subsidiary companies are measured at cost less impairment losses.

3.1.4 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated.
 
3.2 Financial instruments

3.2.1  Non-derivative financial assets

The Group has the following categories of non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables and loans to the group 
companies. 

Loans and receivables

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, withholding tax rebate receivable, cash and cash 
equivalents and loans to the group companies.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short term deposits. 

Accounting for finance income and expenses is discussed in note 3.10.
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The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
 
Loans to group companies

These include loans to holding companies and,  fellow subsidiaries and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct 
transaction costs. Loans to group companies are classified as loans and receivables. Loans from group companies are 
classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Loans and receivables: Withholding tax rebate receivable

The withholding tax rebate receivable represents the amounts which have been reclassified from trade receivables as 
they are not expected to be settled within 12 months from the reporting date. This amount represents amounts withheld by 
foreign customers and paid to their local tax authority, but which nonetheless remain contractually due to SilverBridge by 
these foreign customers. Should SARS give SilverBridge a rebate against its SA Normal Tax in respect of this withholding 
tax, then SilverBridge would relieve the customer of its obligation or refund them, if already paid.

3.2.2  Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group and company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables and loans from 
group companies.

Trade and other payables

The Group and company initially recognises its financial liabilities on the transaction date at which the Group and company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Such liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less 
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The Group and company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expire. 

Loans from group companies

These include loans from holding companies and fellow subsidiaries and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct 
transaction costs. Loans from group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

3.2.3 Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share 
options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified 
as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued 
subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is transferred to/from retained earnings within equity.
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3.3 Equipment

3.3.1 Recognition and measurement

Items of equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to 
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of  equipment.

3.3.2 Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that 
the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of equipment are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

3.3.3 Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part of an item 
of  equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset.
 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Computer hardware    3 years
Computer software   2 years
Office equipment    6 years
Furniture and fittings   6 years
Motor vehicles    5 years
Leasehold improvements   3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

3.3.4   Derecognition

An asset is removed from the statement of financial position on disposal or when it is withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from the asset. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the equipment disposed of, and are recognised net 
within profit or loss when the item is derecognised. 
 
3.4 Intangible assets and goodwill

3.4.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Gains and losses on 
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

3.4.2 Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and 
understanding, is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
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Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or 
process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and 
has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. 

Development expenditure capitalised consists of Exergy software and complimentary tools to Exergy.
Research expenditure and development expenditure that do not meet the criteria mentioned above are recognised as 
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

3.4.3 Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.4.4 Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated on the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other 
than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
years are as follows:

Exergy software    10 years
Complimentary tools to Exergy software 3-7 years

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treating the change as a 
change in accounting estimate on a prospective basis. The amortisation expense of intangible assets with a finite useful 
life is recognised in profit or loss.

3.5 Impairment 

3.5.1 Financial assets (including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss 
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of 
an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, and/or indications that a debtor will 
enter bankruptcy. 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All individual significant receivables 
are assessed for specific impairment. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. When a subsequent 
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or 
loss.
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3.5.2 Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets and goodwill, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”, or “CGU”). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is 
allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may 
be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount and 
the change can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.6 Employee benefits

3.6.1 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 
refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions to a defined contribution plan that are due more than 
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are discounted to their present value.

3.6.2 Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 
is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.6.3 Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense 
or a company contribution to a subsidiary, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees 
unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number 
of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount 
ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service and non-market 
performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant 
date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences 
between expected and actual outcomes. 
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3.7 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised 
as finance cost. 

A provision for warranties is recognised after the implementation and user acceptance testing process is complete for 
the expected cost to be incurred by the Group for any defects that clients claim.  The provision amount is calculated on 
estimates on the amount of time that will be needed to deal with such warranty issues based of the resources cost rate.

3.8 Revenue 

The Company generates revenue by providing management services to subsidiary companies.
The Group generates revenue by providing the use of its software systems developed in-house and other ancillary 
services as further described below, to its clients. The systems remain under the ownership of the Group. The Group 
recovers licensing and/or rental fees from its clients, for the right of use of the system. The related service offerings to the 
software system of the Group are:

i. Solution design, installation, configuration and customisation services
ii. Support and maintenance services of the respective system
iii. System enhancement services
iv. Hosting and outsourcing services

Revenue is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised at the date on 
which services are rendered. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

3.8.1 System rental and licensing fees 

System rental and licensing fees represent the fees charged for the right of use of the applicable software systems. 
Monthly rental fee revenue is based on either the number of users of the software or a percentage of the client’s premium 
income and is recognised on a monthly basis on the date of invoice. License fee revenue is invoiced upfront to the client 
and recognised monthly over the period it applies to.

3.8.2 Rendering of services

Revenue from the solution design, installation of software, configuration, customisation and enhancement changes to the 
software is recognised by reference to the stage of completion.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the expenditure incurred to date as a percentage of the total 
expenditure expected to be incurred on each contract. Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. As soon as losses on individual 
contracts become evident, they are provided for in full in profit or loss.

Revenue from fixed-price contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method, and once the outcome of the 
contract can be assessed with reasonable certainty.

Revenue from variable price contracts is recognised on a time and material basis at the agreed price per unit and once 
the outcome of the contract can be assessed with reasonable certainty.

Revenue from support and maintenance services, management services and hosting and outsourcing services is 
recognised as and when the service is delivered.

Prepaid support and maintenance services collected in advance are deferred and recognised based on actual usage of 
the service or upon expiration of the usage period, whichever comes first.
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3.8.3 Deferred revenue and revenue recognised not yet invoiced

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from clients in terms of the billing arrangements in the underlying 
agreement, for which services have not yet been rendered.

Revenue recognised not yet invoiced represents revenue recognised for services rendered, in accordance with the 
stage of completion method of revenue recognition, for which the client has not yet been billed, in terms of the billing 
arrangement in the underlying agreement.

3.9 Lease payments

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.  The Group did not have any finance leases during the current or prior 
financial year.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on the Group’s Statement of Financial 
Position. 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

3.10 Finance income, costs and dividend income

Finance income comprises interest income on bank balances. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, 
using the effective interest method. Dividend income of the company is recognised as other income in profit or loss on the 
date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which, in the case of quoted securities, is the ex-dividend 
date. 

Finance expenses comprise the interest expense on borrowings and unwinding of the discount on provisions.
 
3.11 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous 
periods. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries 
to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future and the parent or investor is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable 
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.
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3.12 Earnings per share (EPS)

The Group presents basic, headline, diluted and diluted headline earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Headline EPS is determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders adjusted for re-measurements as 
required by Circular 2/2015 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all potential dilutive ordinary shares. 

Diluted headline EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all potential diluted ordinary shares. The profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group is also adjusted for re-measurements as required by Circular 2/2015 
issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

3.13 Segment reporting

Business segments

The Group’s executive committee, consisting of the chief executive officer, the financial director and the chief financial 
officer, examines the group’s performance from a service perspective. The Group’s executive committee is the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker. 

A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing related products 
or services, which is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other segments. The Group is organised 
into five (2015: four) vertical business units, representing the main service offerings of the Group which delivers separate 
identifiable revenue streams.  The results of these segments are reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker on a 
regular basis.

Segment results, include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis. 

In the prior financial year, support services rendered by Connect and support services rendered by Rubix were separately 
disclosed. This has been consolidated into one support segment during the current year.  The comparitive year has been 
adjusted accordingly. 

3.14 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss 
on monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the 
exchange rate at the end of the year.
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3.15 New accounting pronouncements

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 30 
June 2016, and have not been early adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.

Standard/Interpretation Date issued by IASB Effective date 

IAS 7 Disclosure initiative of the 
Statement of Cash flows January 2016 1 January 2017

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with 
customers May 2014 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments July 2014 1 January 2018

IAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax 
assets for unrealised losses July 2014 1 January 2017

IFRS 16
Recognition of assets and 
liabilities for long term 
leases

January 2016 1 January 2019

 

IAS 7 Disclosure initiative of the Statement of Cash flows

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows requires entities to disclose information about changes in their 
financing liabilities. The additional disclosures will help investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including changes from cash flow and non-cash changes, such as foreign exchange gains or losses

The amendments will have no impact on the financial reporting of the Group or the Company. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

This standard replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 
15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue – 
Barter of Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognising 
revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine 
whether, how much and when revenue is to be recognised.  The Group is currently in the process of performing a more 
detailed assessment of the impact of this standard on the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

On 24 July 2014 the IASB issued the final IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Standard, which replaces earlier versions of IFRS 
9 and completes the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Even though the measurement categories are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into these categories are 
significantly different. In addition, the IFRS 9 impairment model has been changed from an “incurred loss” model in IAS 
39 to an “expected credit loss” model, which might increase the provision for bad debts recognised in the Group. The 
Group is currently in the process of performing a more detailed assessment of the impact of this standard on the Group.

IAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses

The amendments to IAS 12 clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt 
instruments measured at fair value.

The company has no unrealised losses on debt instruments carried at fair value at year end. These amendments will have 
no significant impact on the financial reporting of the Group or the Company.
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IFRS 16 Recognition of assets and liabilities for long term leases

The new standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities 
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to 
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments. A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such as 
equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee recognises depreciation 
on the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into 
a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows applying IAS 7 Statement of 
Cash Flows.
 
The Group is currently in the process of performing a more detailed assessment of the impact of this standard on the 
Group.

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based 
on the methods described below. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
 
4.1 Equipment

The fair value of equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values. The fair value 
of equipment is based on the market approach and cost approaches using quoted market prices for similar items when 
available and replacement cost when appropriate.

4.2 Intangible assets

The fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is based on the discounted cash flows expected 
to be derived from the use of the assets.

4.3 Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding work in progress is estimated as the present value of future 
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. The fair value of trade and other receivables 
is reflected after providing for doubtful debts based on the credit risk assessment of individual receivables. The interest 
rates used to discount estimated cash flows in determining fair values is based on the current prime overdraft rate. This 
fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.  

4.4 Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

4.5 Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of the employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes method. Measurement inputs include 
the share price on measurement date, the exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average 
historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), the weighted average expected 
life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the 
risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 

Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining 
fair value.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview
 
The Group and Company have exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
• Operational risk

This note presents information about the Group’s and Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
and Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s and Company’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

Risk management framework

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s and Company’s risk 
management framework. 

The Group’s and Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Group and Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s and 
Company’s activities. The Group and Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s Audit, Risk and IT Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s and 
Company’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Group and Company. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and Company if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s and Company’s receivables from clients.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each client. 
The demographics of the Group’s and Company’s client base, including the default risk of the industry and country in 
which clients operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. 

Goods are sold subject to retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group or Company may have 
a secured claim. The Group and Company does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.

The Group and Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of trade and other receivables. This allowance relates to individually significant exposures.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Group’s and Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risk of damaging the Group’s or Company’s reputation.

The Group and Company monitors its exposure to liquidity risk using projected cash flows from operations. The Group 
and Company ensures that the timing of payments to creditors and receipt of collections from clients and maturity of 
short-term deposits is matched as far as possible.  The Group also has a R2.5 million (2015: R2.5 million) revolving 
overdraft facility available for instances where cash flows come under pressure. 
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Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
the Group’s and Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Group and Company is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency of the Company or subsidiary. The Group did not invoice any clients during the financial 
year in a currency other than the functional currency (2015: None). Limited foreign purchases are also made. Due to the 
insignificance of such transactions, the Group and Company does not hedge any of its foreign currency exposures. The 
Group and Company also do not trade in financial markets and accordingly, there is no material exposure to currency 
risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group and Company have limited exposure to interest rate risk through interest being received on bank balances 
and interest payable on borrowings. The interest being received on bank balances is based on the variable interest rates 
granted by financial institutions.  These rates are linked to the repo rate of South Africa.  Interest charged on borrowings is 
set out in the terms and conditions of the agreements beforehand which is linked to the prime interest rate plus a certain 
agreed upon margin. This does not impose a significant risk to the Group and Company.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
and Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market 
and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of 
corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s and Company’s operations. 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
Group’s and Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative 
and creativity. 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to 
the executive committee of the Group and Company. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group 
and Company standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 

• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions
• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions
• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements
• Documentation of controls and procedures
• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures 

to address the risks identified
• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action
• Development of contingency plans
• Training and professional development
• Ethical and business standards
• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. The Board monitors the return on capital, which the Group and Company 
defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders equity. The Board also monitors the level of distributions to 
ordinary shareholders and earnings per share.

The primary objective of the Group’s and Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
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The Group and Company manage its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group and Company may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and 
processes during the years ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015. The Group’s and Company’s policy is to obtain 
necessary capital through share capital issues or the generation of cash from operations.
 
The Group’s expected cost of capital was determined as 18% and the Group’s expected return of projects differs between 
20% and 25% depending on the risk of the project. 

6. SEGMENT REPORTING

Group

Business segments

The Group’s executive committee, consisting of the chief executive officer, the financial director, the chief financial officer 
and the manager for corporate planning, examines the group’s performance from a service perspective.  The Group’s 
executive committee is the Chief Operating Decision Maker.
 
From a management perspective, the Group has five verticle business segments (2015: four), as described below, which 
are the Group’s strategic business units. These strategic business units offer different products and services and focus 
on different industries and represent the main service offerings of the Group, as follows:

i. Implementation services – implementation of client-specific solutions;
ii. Support services – support offered as client-specific solution;
iii. Hosting and outsourcing services;
iv. Software rental fees and other license and maintenance fees received for right of use of the system; and 
v. Research and development – develop and maintain the generic client solutions.

The Group controls and manages all assets and liabilities on a central basis and recovers these costs as well as corporate 
overheads through a recovery model based on income generation. Segment results include only cost items directly and 
indirectly attributable to a segment. Unallocated items comprise a centrally controlled assets and liabilities, income-
earning assets and revenue, expenses and corporate assets and expenses.

In the prior financial year, Connect support and Rubix support were separately reported on. This has been consolidated 
in to one support segment during the current year with the comparitve numbers adjusted accordingly due to the relative 
small size of the Rubix support segment.

A new business has been started during the year and therefore the additional segment, Hosting and outsourcing services 
was established during the current year.  This segment, which provides a range of complimentary managed services 
to our clients. The services include cloud based hosting, outsourced technical services and full business process 
outsourcing.This represents a new initiative for the Group. It enables us to offer additional services to existing clients as 
well as make our offerings appeal to a wider range of potential clients. It will also help keep our offerings relevant with 
regard to technology trends.There are no comparative figures due to the segment only being established during the 
current year under review.

Except for the above, the segment report has been prepared consistently with the previous year.
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6.1 Business segments

2016 Imple-
mentation

services
R’000

Support 
services 

R’000

Hosting 
and out-

sourcing 
services

R’000

Rental 
and main-

tenance
R’000

Research 
and devel-

opment
R’000

Total
R’000

Segment revenue 11 027 38 145 3 060 37 217 – 89 449
Segment revenue inter-group – (1 900) (867) (240) – (3 007)
Segment revenue external 11 027 36 245 2 193 36 977 – 86 442
Direct segment cost (5 775) (19 775) (3 562) (6 894) (6 603) (42 609)
Cost capitalised – – – – 1 885 1 885
Segment gross profit 5 252 16 470 (1 369) 30 083 (4 718) 45 718
Indirect segment cost (4 568) (14 458) (558) (7 002) (7 095) (33 681)
Segment profit/(loss) 684 2 012 (1 927) 23 081 (11 813) 12 037
Net finance income 1 117
Income tax (3 064)
Profit for the year 10 090

2015 Imple-
mentation

services
R’000

Support 
services 

R’000

Rental 
and main-

tenance
R’000

Research 
&

develop-
ment

R’000

Total
R’000

Segment revenue 19 678 30 841 33 494 – 84 013
Segment revenue inter-group – (3 019) (51) – (3 070)
Segment revenue external 19 678 27 822 33 443 – 80 943
Direct segment cost (9 862) (15 744) (8 007) (5 663) (39 276)
Cost capitalised – – – 1 167 1 167
Segment gross profit 9 816 12 078 25 436 (4 496) 42 834
Indirect segment cost (8 934) (13 142) (5 302) (4 444) (31 822)
Segment profit/(loss) 882 (1 064) 20 134 (8 940) 11 012
Net finance income 467
Income tax (3 136)
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2015 Imple-
mentation

services
R’000

Support 
services 

R’000

Rental 
and main-

tenance
R’000

Research 
&

develop-
ment

R’000

Total
R’000

Profit for the year 8 343

6.2 Revenue per geographical area

All segments are managed locally in South Africa. In presenting information on the basis of geographical location, 
segment revenue is based on the geographical location of our clients.

Group
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
South Africa 45 542 36 153
Swaziland 8 232 3 114
Zimbabwe 7 860 6 769
Namibia 7 346 18 553
Lesotho 6 242 1 430
Kenya 3 022 3 505
Other African countries* 8 198 11 419

86 442 80 943

* Other African countries include Angola, Botswana, Malawi, Mauritius and Ghana.

6.3 Major clients

Revenue, included in the Implementation, Support, Rental and Maintenance and the Hosting and outsourcing segment, 
from the two major clients of the Group represents approximately R 19.560 million (2015: two major clients represented 
R 18.124 million) of the Group’s total revenue. Major clients are defined as clients from which the Group generates 10 
percent or more of its revenues. 

7.  REVENUE

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue comprises:
Implementation services 11 027 19 678 – –
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Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Hosting and outsourcing services 2 193 – – –
Support services 36 245 27 771 111 –
Software rental and license fees 36 977 33 494 – –
Management fees – – 29 746 7 579

86 442 80 943 29 857 7 579

8. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

8.1  Other income

                 Group                   Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Other operating income* 129 15 120 3 858

Profit on sale of asset 23 – 20 –

152 15 140 3 858
*Other operating income includes amounts received from the ISSET SETA for training grants as well as unrealised exchange gains. Other operating income 
for the company in 2015 consists of dividends received from subsidiary.

8.2  Personnel expenses

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Salaries (45 574) (45 200) (11 334) (2 182) 

Equity-settled share based payment transactions 
(See note 28)

(448) (175) (99) (11)

Contributions to the pension fund (See note 25) (3 145) (3 420) (694) (211)
Key management personnel and directors 
(See note 26.5.2)

(8 360) (6 366) (3 450) (1 212)
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Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

(57 527) (55 161) (15 577) (3 616)

8.3  Depreciation and amortisation

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Depreciation (594) (709) (137) (8)
Amortisation (801) (990) – –

(1 395) (1 699) (137) (8)

8.4      Professional fees paid for services

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Fees paid to external auditors (742) (710) (742) –

Fees paid to internal auditors (324) (300) (324) (100)

Professional services* (3 586) (2 629) (3 398) (1 003)

Recruitment and human resource services (706) (283) (706) (95)

Legal fees (135) (127) (135) –

Secretarial services (173) (197) (173) (61)

(5 666) (4 246) (5 478) (1 259)

*Professional fees include services being rendered by external consultants and advisors.

8.5  Other expenses

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Operating lease charges – buildings (1 459) (1 404) (1 459) (476)
Marketing and advertising (647) (595) (813) (106)
Training and subscriptions (522) (708) (126) (54)
Insurance (873) (785) (873) (229)
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Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Social responsibility (409) (432) (409) (160)
Administration (129) (110) (129) (78)
Travel (1 092) (1 045) (504) (113)
Travel expenditure incurred (2 237) (2 317) (529) (120)
Travel expenditure reimbursed 1 145 1 272 25 7
General staff expenses (792) (994) (656) (324)
Communications and computer maintenance (3 122) (2 863) (1 790) (657)
Other (924) (1 119) (913) (435)
Warranty provision utilised/(raised) – 2 420 – –
Foreign exchange loss – (27) – (23)
Loss on disposal of assets – (19) – –
Bad debts – (1 159) – (20)
Management fees paid – – (458) (354)

(9 969) (8 840) (8 130) (3 029)

8.6  Research costs

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Research expenditure included in personnel expenses 
and other expenses above*

(4 718) (4 496) – –

 *    Refer to research and development segment in note 6.1

9.  FINANCE INCOME

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Interest income on bank deposits 1 367 468 5 228

1 367 468 5 228

10.  FINANCE EXPENSE

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Interest paid – (1) – (1)
Finance cost* (250) – – –

(250) (1) – (1)

*     Finance cost recognised by the group relates to the discounting of a Debtor. Refer to note 27.1



SilverBridge  |  2016 Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements72

11. TAXATION

11.1 Current tax

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
South African normal taxation (3 080) (2 536) – –
– Current year (3 080) (2 536) – –
Donations tax (18) – (18) –
– Current year (18) – (18) –
Deferred tax 34 (600) 543 306
– Relating to origination and reversal of temporary
differences

34 (600) 543 306

(3 064) (3 136) 525 306

11.2  Reconciliation of effective rate of taxation

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

% % % %
South African normal tax rate 28.00 28.00 28.00 28.00
Adjusted for:
– Non-deductible expenses: 2.03 2.00 22.60 0.72

- Donations 0.31 0.05 6.09 0.12
- Capital in nature 0.29 0.09 5.71 –
- Listing fees 0.33 – 6.62 –
- Share based payment 0.95 0.84 4.18 0.60
- Other non-deductible expenses 0.15 1.02 – –

– Non-taxable income (0.24) (1.02) – (31.79)
– Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax asset (6.50) (1.66) (127.81) (5.09)
Effective tax rate 23.29 27.32 (77.21) (8.16)
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12.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

12.1 Basic earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent, of R10.1 million (2015: R8.3 million) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year of 34.7 million (2015: 34.7 million).

                       Group
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
Reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares in issue

Shares in issue (‘000) 34 781 34 781
Effect of treasury shares acquired on 1 March 2007 (‘000) (106) (106)
Weighted average number of shares in issue at the end of the year (‘000) 34 675 34 675
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (R’000) 10 090 8 343
Basic earnings per share (cents) 29.10 24.06

12.2 Headline earnings per ordinary share

Headline earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the headline earnings attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent of R10.1 million (2015: R8.3 million) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year of 34.7 million (2015: 34.7 million).

                       Group
2016

Number
 of shares

‘000

2015
Number of 

shares
‘000

Weighted average number of shares in issue 34 675 34 675

       2016 2015
Gross Net Gross Net
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Reconciliation between basic earnings and headline 
earnings
Basic earnings 10 090 8 343
Adjusted for:
– (Profit)/loss on disposal of equipment (23) (17) 20 14
Headline earnings 10 073 8 357
Headline earnings per share (cents) 29.05 24.10
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12.3 Diluted earnings per ordinary share

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the diluted profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent of R10.1 million (2015: R8.3 million) by the diluted average number of ordinary shares of 36.7 million (2015: 
35.2 million). 

                   Group
2016

Number of 
shares

‘000

2015
Number of 

shares
‘000

Reconciliation between weighted average number of shares in issue and 
weighted average number of shares in issue used for diluted earnings per 
share
Weighted average number of shares in issue 34 675 34 675
Adjusted for
- Diluted amount of shares 1 985 577
Weighted average number of shares in issue used for diluted earnings per 
share

36 660 35 252

                         Group
2016
‘000

2015
‘000

Basic earnings used for diluted earnings 10 090 8 343
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 27.52 23.67

12.4 Diluted headline earnings per ordinary share

Diluted headline earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the diluted headline earnings attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent of R10.1 million (2015: R8.3 million) by the diluted weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year of 36.7 million (2015: 35.2 million).

                        Group
2016 2015

Weighted average number of shares in issue used for diluted earnings per 
share (‘000)

36 660 35 252

Headline earnings (R‘000) 10 073 8 357
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 27.48 23.71
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Equipment summary of movements during the year per category of asset

Computer 
hardware

R’000

Computer 
software

R’000

Office 
equipment

R’000

Furniture 
and fit-

tings
R’000

Motor 
vehicles

R’000

Lease hold 
improve-

ments
R’000

Total
R’000

Group
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2014 7 350 2 589 813 860 184 690 12 486
Additions 341 48 28 45 – 14 476
Disposals (30) – – – – – (30)
Balance at 30 June 2015 7 661 2 637 841 905 184 704 12 932
Additions 486 – 9 – – 90 585
Disposals – – – – – –
Balance at 30 June 2016 8 147 2 637 850 905 184 794 13 517

Accumulated depreciation, 
impairment and losses
Balance at 1 July 2014 6 706 2 452 740 561 129 654 11 242
Depreciation for the year 393 151 28 76 37 24 709
Disposals (11) – – – – – (11)
Balance at 30 June 2015 7 088 2 603 768 637 166 678 11 940
Depreciation for the year 410 34 28 73 18 31 594
Disposals – – – – – – –
Balance at 30 June 2016 7 498 2 637 796 710 184 709 12 534

Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2014 644 137 73 299 55 36 1 244
At 30 June 2015 573 34 73 268 18 26 992
At 30 June 2016 649 – 54 195 – 85 983
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Computer 
hardware

R’000

Office equip-
ment

R’000

Furniture 
and fittings

R’000

Lease hold 
improve-

ments
R’000

Total
R’000

Company
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2014 – – – – –
Additions 71 33 75 13 192
Disposals – – – – –
Balance at 30 June 2015 71 33 75 13 192
Additions 487 8 – 90 584
Disposals – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2016 558 41 75 103 776

Accumulated depreciation, impairment 
and losses
Balance at 1 July 2014 – – – – –
Depreciation for the year 4 2 2 – 8
Disposals – – – – –
Balance at 30 June 2015 4 2 2 – 8
Depreciation for the year 98 8 12 18 136
Disposals – – – – –
Balance at 30 June 2016 102 10 14 18 144

Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2014 – – – – –
At 30 June 2015 67 31 73 13 184
At 30 June 2016 456 31 61 85 633
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

14.1 Intangible assets and goodwill summary of movements during the year per category of asset

Goodwill 
R’000

Exergy software 
and compli-

mentary tools 
R’000

Total
R’000

Group

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2014 16 641 11 465 28 106
Development costs capitalised – 1 166 1 166
Balance at 30 June 2015 16 641 12 631 29 272
Development costs capitalised – 1 886 1 886
Balance at 30 June 2016 16 641 14 517 31 158

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 July 2014 8 464 8 532 16 996
Amortisation for the year – 990 990
Balance at 30 June 2015 8 464 9 522 17 986
Amortisation for the year – 801 801
Balance at 30 June 2016 8 464 10 323 18 787

Carrying amount

At 1 July 2014 8 177 2 933 11 110
At 30 June 2015 8 177 3 109 11 286
At 30 June 2016 8 177 4 194 12 371

14.2 Impairment testing of goodwill 

Goodwill of R8.177 million recognised by the Group through the reverse acquisition of SilverBridge which occurred in 
2006 has been allocated to Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited, being the smallest cash generating unit which 
will benefit from the acquisition. The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined based on a value in use 
calculation using cash flow projections based on the financial budget approved by the Company’s Board of directors, for 
the next financial year. These cash flows were grown for four additional years using a 10% (2015: 10%) growth rate. The 
cash flows were extrapolated beyond the four-year period by using a terminal rate of 2% (2015: 2%). The discount rate 
applied to the cash flow projections is 18.41% (2015: 18.41%).

14.2.1 Key assumptions used in the value in use calculation for goodwill

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake 
the impairment testing of goodwill:

i. Budgeted net profits – The budgeted net profit as approved by the Board of directors, was
adjusted for non-cash flow items for the 2016 financial year. The forecasted profits were based on the 2016
financial year.

ii. Pre-tax discount rate – The weighted average cost of capital of the Group has been taken into account.



SilverBridge  |  2016 Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements78

14.2. 2 Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value in use in Rubix Digital Solutions, management believes that there is no foreseeable 
possible change in any of the above key assumptions which would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially 
exceed its recoverable amount.

Growth rate assumptions: Management recognises that the speed of technological change and the possibility of new 
entrants can have a significant impact on growth rate assumptions. The effect of new entrants is not expected to impact 
adversely on forecasts included in the budget.
 
14.3 Intangible assets with a finite useful life

14.3.1  Exergy software

The Group’s main software product, Exergy, has been developed internally. The Group currently amortises the Exergy 
software over a period of ten years on a straight line basis. Management has reviewed the estimated useful life of Exergy 
and believes it still to be reasonable.

14.3.2  Complementary product offering to the Exergy software

The Group has developed software products internally, that are complementary to the Exergy system offering and which 
are still under development. The Group currently amortises the complementary Exergy products over a range of three to 
seven years, based on the nature of each of the individual products. Management has reviewed the useful lives of the 
products and believes these to be reasonable.
 
14.3.3  Software tools

Software tools represent a combination of tools developed in-house, that automate programming and development 
functions, which result in time and cost savings. The tools are utilised in connection with the Exergy software, and are 
amortised over the remaining useful life of Exergy, on a straight line basis. Management has reviewed the useful lives of 
the products and believes these to be reasonable.

15.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

15.1  Unlisted investments

              Group
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
At cost
Shares in Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited 50 970 50 970
Shares in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited 14 815 14 815
Dividend received from Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited pre-ac-
quisition reserve

(1 402) (1 402)

Impairment of investment in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited (13 413) (13 413)
Contribution to subsidiaries relating to share options granted 2 568 2 219

53 538 53 189

An investment in Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited of R100 (2015: R100) existed at year end.

15.2  Shares in Rubix Digital Solutions 

See note 26: Related parties, for details regarding the investment. Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited is incorporated 
in the Republic of South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2015: 100%) of the equity interest in Rubix Digital Solutions 
Proprietary Limited.
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15.3  Shares in Cirrus Managed Services

See note 26: Related parties, for details regarding the investment in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited. Cirrus 
Managed Services Proprietary Limited is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2015: 
100%) of the equity interest in Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited.

15.4  Shares in Connect Software Services

See note 26: Related parties, for details regarding the investment in Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited. 
Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. The Company owns 100% 
(2015: 100%) of the equity interest in Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited.
 
16. PROVISIONS

Warranties

The provision for warranties relates to cost that is expected to be incurred by the Group for any defects that clients claim 
after the implementation and user acceptance testing process is complete.  The provision is based on estimates on the 
amount of time that will be needed to deal with such warranty issues, under the Group’s contractual warranty obligations 
calculated based on the applicable resources cost rate. At year end, management estimated no provision to be raised. 

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Balance at the beginning of the period – 2 416 - –
Provision (utilised)/raised during the period – (2 416) - –
Balance at the end of the period – – - –
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND (LIABILITIES)

17.1  Composition of deferred tax

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Deferred tax assets
Estimated tax losses* 885 – – –
Income received in advance 262 – –
Leave accrual 713 685 210 143
Incentive accrual 937 891 438 170
Other accruals 233 – 233 –
Deferred revenue 118 176 – –

3 148 1 752 881 313
Deferred tax liability
Capitalisation of intangible assets (910) (707) – –
Revenue recognised not yet invoiced (1 333) (751) – –
Contract expenses (108) (150) –
Foreign blocked funds (575) – –
Pre-payments (54) (10) (32) (7)

(2 980) (1 618) (32) (7)
Net deferred tax asset 1 266 441 849 306
Net deferred tax liability (1 098) (308) – –

 * Estimated tax losses represent the calculated tax loss of R 3.2m in Cirrus and Connect for the year, not yet assessed.

17.2  Unrecognised temporary differences

 Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been created

11 598 14 753 11 598 14 753

Potential tax benefit @28% 3 247 4 131 3 247 4 131

17.3  Reconciliation of movements on deferred tax 

 Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Balance at the beginning of the year 133 734 306 -
Temporary differences recognised through profit or loss 35 (601) 543 306
Balance at the end of the year 168 133 849 306
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18.1 Composition

 Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Financial assets - Loans and receivables
Trade receivables 13 179 14 193 3 201 24
Net trade receivables 13 179 14 193 3 201 24
Other receivables 198 39 113 –
Other related party receivable – – – 4 106

13 377 14 232 3 314 4 130
Non-financial assets - Loans and receivables
VAT receivable 45 550 – –
Total trade and other receivables 13 422 14 782 3 314 4 130

18.2  Terms and conditions

For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, see note 26: Related parties.

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and have a normal payment term of 30 days. The impact of the time 
value of money between collection date and invoice date was taken into account in determining the fair value of trade 
and other receivables.

See note 27 for risk disclosures concerning financial instruments.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Cash at bank and in hand 26 956 18 214 1 494 74
Bank overdraft – – – –
Balance at the end of the year 26 956 18 214 1 494 74

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily interest rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying 
periods of between one month and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Company, and 
earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

A revolving overdraft facility of R2.5 million is available from a financial institution.  Interest is payable on the amount being 
utilised at prime plus 1.5%.  The debtors of SilverBridge are ceded to the financial institution. This overdraft facility is 
reviewed annually by the financial institution.  No amounts have been drawn down on the facility at the end of the current 
and prior financial year.
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20. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

20.1 Share capital

20.1.1  Authorised

The authorised share capital consists of 200 000 000 (2015: 200 000 000) ordinary shares of par value 1 cent (2015: 1 
cent) each. There were no movements in the authorised share capital in the current or previous financial year.

20.1.2  Issued and fully paid

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company is R347 815 (2015: R347 815). There were no movements in the 
current or prior financial year.            

20.1.3  Reconciliation of number of shares in issue

At the end of the financial year 34.8 million (2015: 34.8 million) shares were in issue. There were no movements in the 
number of shares in issue in the current or previous financial year. 

20.1.4  Directors powers over share capital

The directors are authorised, by resolution of the shareholders, until the next annual general meeting of the Company, 
to issue and dispose, limited to a maximum of 12 million shares of the authorised but un-issued shares of the Company, 
subject to the requirements of the Companies Act and the rules and regulations of the JSE Listings Requirements, to allot 
and/or issue shares to such persons on such terms and conditions as they may determine from time to time.

20.1.5  Rights of ordinary shareholders

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All shares rank pari passu and equally with regard to the 
Company’s residual value of the shares. 

20.1.6  Share premium

At the end of the financial year the share premium of the Group amounted to R11.9 million (2015: R11.9 million) and the 
Company R67.4 million (2015: R67.4 million). There were no movements in the current or prior financial year.

20.2 Share based payment reserve

The share based payment reserve comprises the cumulative amount that was recognised in profit or loss as an 
employment expense over the vesting period with the corresponding amount credited to this reserve, which forms part 
of the Company’s equity. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards expected 
to vest.

The equity-settled share-based payment reserve is analysed as follows:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Balance at the beginning of the year 462 512 462 512
Share based payment expensed 448 344 349 264
Share based payment contribution – – 99 80
Reversal from reserve to retained earnings with respect to 
share options being forfeited

– (394) – (394)

Balance at the end of the year 910 462 910 462
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 2 094 671 765 416
Other payables (accruals) 3 306 2 681 1 286 496
Loans from group companies – – 21 327 20 873

5 400 3 352 23 378 21 785
Non-financial liabilities

VAT payable 480 1 069 233 865
Incentive accrual 3 342 3 182 1 562 606
Leave accrual 2 542 2 445 751 512

6 364 6 696 2 546 1 983
Total trade and other payables 11 764 10 048 25 924 23 768

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. Other payables are non-interest 
bearing and have an average term of 30 days. For terms and conditions relating to related party loan, see note 26: 
Related parties.

22. WITHHOLDING TAX REBATES RECEIVABLE

22.1 Movements on withholding tax rebates receivable 

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Balance at the beginning of the period 3 558 2 921 – –
Additional rebates received/(utilised) (1 056) 637 – –
Balance at the end of the period 2 502 3 558 – –

22.2 Split between non-current and current portion of withholding tax rebates receivable

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Non-current 1 190 2 047 – –
Current 1 312 1 511 – –
Balance at the end of the period 2 502 3 558 – –
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23. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

23.1 Cash generated from operating activities

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Profit before taxation 13 154 11 479 680 3 752
Adjusted for:

– Depreciation 594 709 137 8
– Amortisation 801 990 – –
– Share based payment expense 448 344 99 80
– Bad debts – 1 159 – 20
– (Profit)/ loss on disposal of equipment (23) 19 – –
– Interest income (1 367) (468) (5) (228)
– Dividend received – – – (3 858)
– Finance costs 250 1 – 1

13 857 14 233 911 (225)
Net working capital movements: 1 598 (1 416) 2518 2 797
– (Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 1 359 (4 033) 816 (28)
– Non-cash flow discounting of trade receivables (250) – – –
– Change in withholding tax rebate 1 056 (637) – –
– Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 1 716 1 433 1 702 2 825
– Change in revenue recognised not yet invoiced (2 053) 3 951 – –
– Change in deferred revenue (230) 285 – –
– Change in provisions – (2 415) – –
Cash generated from operations 15 455 12 817 3 429 2 572

23.2 Reconciliation of taxation paid

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Taxation (payable) / receivable at beginning of year (1 785) (611) – –
Recognised in profit or loss (3 098) (2 536) (19) –
Taxation payable/(receivable) at end of year 989 1 785 (126) –
Net taxation paid (3 894) (1 362) (145) –
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24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

24.1 Operating lease commitments

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Group as lessee

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancel-
lable operating leases:
Not later than 1 year 1 905 1 153 1 905 1 153
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 12 000 384 12 000 384
Later than 5 years – – – –
Total operating lease commitments 13 905 1 537 13 905 1 537

SilverBridge entered into a 5 year lease agreement with a commencement date of 1 November 2016, and an annual 
escalation of 8.5%. The lease agreement does not specify any terms of renewal. 

24.2 Capital commitments

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Authorised but not contracted for 1 583 1 378 1 583 1 378

No contracted capital commitments exist at the year-end. Although an IT budget exists for the Group whereby new 
computers will be acquired, no agreements have been entered into for these at reporting date.

25. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

The Group operates a retirement contribution plan that is governed by the Pension Funds Act (Act No 24 of 1956). The 
plan covers all qualifying employees. 

The only obligation of the Group and Company to the retirement contribution plan is to deduct employee contributions 
monthly and to pay these over to the administrators. The Group and the Company’s total contribution to the fund amounted 
to R3 145 079 (2015: R3 419 840) and R 693,706 (2015: R 181,180) respectively, which represents contributions payable 
to the schemes by the Group based on the rates specified in the rules of the scheme. 

26. RELATED PARTIES

26.1 Group subsidiaries

2015 and 2016
Nature of 
business

Country of  
incorporation

% Equity
interest 2016 

The following companies are included within the Group 
financial statements:
Subsidiaries (based on the legal structure)
Rubix Digital Solutions Proprietary Limited IT software RSA 100
Connect Software Services Proprietary Limited Implementation 

and support
RSA 100

Cirrus Managed Services Proprietary Limited IT Consulting RSA 100
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2015 and 2016
Nature of 
business

Country of  
incorporation

% Equity
interest 2016 

SilverBridge Employee Share Trust Trust RSA 100

26.2 Entities with significant influence over the Group

Significant influence represents the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an investee but 
does not constitute control nor joint control over those policies. 

i. Jaco Swanepoel Trust holds 21.48% of the ordinary shares in the Group (2015: 21.48%).
ii. CShell 448 Proprietary Limited (Cshell), controlled by Kagisio Tiso Holdings Proprietary Limited, holds 33.12%

of the ordinary shares in the Group (2015: 33.12%), and has 2 directors on the Board of 8 directors.

26.3  Significant related party transactions

Related party relationships exist between shareholders and subsidiaries within the Group as well as Group key 
management personnel who are defined as the directors of the Group and Company.

Related party transactions are concluded in the normal course of business. All intra-group transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation.

The following table provides a summary of the total amounts of transactions entered into with related parties for the 
relevant financial year and the corresponding amounts owing or payable to the Company.

2016

Other expenses 
paid to related 

party R’000

Revenue from 
related party 

R’000

Amounts owed 
to related parties 

R’000

Amounts owed 
by related

 parties R’000

Subsidiary companies (based on the legal 
structure)
Rubix Digital Solutions
Inter-group transactions and loan with 
subsidiary

(624) 14 116 (21 327) -

Cirrus Managed Services
- Inter-group transactions with subsidiary - 523 - -
Connect Software Services
- Inter-group transactions with subsidiary – 15 107 - -

(624) 29 746 (21 327)

2015

Other expenses 
paid to related 

party R’000

Revenue from 
related party 

R’000

Amounts owed 
to related parties 

R’000

Amounts owed 
by related

 parties R’000

Subsidiary companies (based on the legal 
structure)
Rubix Digital Solutions
Inter-group transactions and loan with 
subsidiary

(354) 4 564 (20 873) -

Connect Software Services
- Inter-group transactions with subsidiary – 3 015 - 4 106

(354) 7 579 (20 873) 4 106
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26.4 Terms and conditions with related parties

The related party loan balances at the year-end are unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and settlement occurs 
in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party loan. The Company has not suffered 
any impairment losses relating to any amounts owed by related parties (2015: nil). This assessment is undertaken each 
financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. 

26.5        Key management personnel compensation

Executive directors are entitled to a monthly salary.  Executive directors can also participate in the share option programme 
by invitation (see note 28). The executive directors of SilverBridge are involved in the company/group on a day-to-day 
basis and have entered into service contracts exceeding three years.

Non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-day business of the Group and Company; neither are they full-time, 
salaried employees of the Company, or its subsidiaries. The non-executive directors enjoy no benefits from the Group and 
Company for their service (as directors), other than their monthly director’s fees and potential capital gains and dividends 
gained from interests in ordinary shares. None of the non-executive directors participate in the share incentive scheme. 

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Summary of key management personnel compensation
Short-term employee benefits
Directors
Non-executive directors 1 028 918 1 028 326
Executive directors 8 152 5 448 2 658 886
Total compensation paid to directors 9 180 6 366 3 686 1 212

26.5.1 Remuneration paid by

 Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
The holding company
(SilverBridge Holdings) 3 686 1 212 3 686 1 212
The legal subsidiary company 
(Rubix Digital Solutions) 1 790 3 076 – –
The legal subsidiary company 
(Cirrus Managed Services) 1 199 – – –
The legal subsidiary company 
(Connect Software Services) 2 505 2 078 – –

9 180 6 366 3 686 1 212
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26.5.2 Group directors’ fees

2016 Basic salary
R’000

Fees as 
director

R’000

Contribu-
tions to 
defined 

contribution 
plan

R’000

Share 
options 

expense
R’000

Incentives
R’000

Total
R’000

Executive directors of Group

– J Swanepoel 2 022 – 167 70 400 2 659
– L Kuyper 1 966 – 160 78 300 2 504
– P Ashton 1 019 – 81 10 89 1 199
– S Blyth 1 471 – 176 78 65 1 790
Total executive director’s fees 6 478 – 584 236 854 8 152

Non-executive directors of  Silver-
Bridge
– R Emslie – 411 – – – 411
– J de Villiers – 334 – – – 334
– J  Chikaonda* – 77 – – – 77
– H Govind** – 77 – – – 77
– T Murray*** – 129 – – – 129
Total non-executive director’s fees 1 028 1 028
Total Group directors’ fees paid 6 478 1 028 584 236 854 9 180

2015 Basic salary
R’000

Fees as 
director

R’000

Contribu-
tions to 
defined 

contribution 
plan

R’000

Share 
options 

expense
R’000

Incentives
R’000

Total
R’000

Executive directors of SilverBridge

– J Swanepoel 1 777 – 179 70 138 2 164
– L Kuyper 1 703 – 171 71 133 2 078
– S Blyth 684 – 96 28 398 1 206

Total executive director’s fees 4 164 – 446 169 669 5 448
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2015 Basic salary
R’000

Fees as 
director

R’000

Contribu-
tions to 
defined 

contribution 
plan

R’000

Share 
options 

expense
R’000

Incentives
R’000

Total
R’000

Non-executive directors of Silver-
Bridge
– R Emslie – 359 – – – 359
– J de Villiers – 304 – – – 304
– J  Chikaonda* – 70 – – – 70
– H Govind** – 70 – – – 70
– T Murray*** – 115 – – – 115
Total non-executive director’s fees – 918 – – – 918
Total Group directors’ fees paid 4 164 918 446 169 669 6 366

* Fees paid to Kagiso Tiso Holdings Proprietary Limited  |  ** Fees paid to NMT Group Proprietary Limited  | *** Fees paid to MMI Holdings Limited

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

27.1 Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum financial exposure to credit risk. 

The maximum financial exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Carrying amount
Trade and other receivables 13 377 14 232 3 314 4 130
Cash and cash equivalents 26 956 18 214 1 494 74
Withholding rebate receivable 2 502 3 558 - –

42 835 36 004 4 808 4 204
The maximum exposure to credit risk of trade receivables 
at the reporting date by geographical region was:
Carrying amount
RSA 8 615 6 079 3 314 4 130
Other African countries 4 083 6 501 – –
Zimbabwe 679 1 652 – –

13 377 14 232 3 314 4 130

Impairment losses 

Aging analysis of trade and other receivables

The trade receivables aging at the year-end was as follows:
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Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Carrying amount
Neither past due nor impaired 10 211 6 635 2 761 4 130
Past due but not impaired
Past due 0-30 days 795 4 303 553 –
Past due 31-120 days 215 1 805 – –
More than 120 days* 2 156 1 489 – –

13 377 14 232 3 314 4 130

* Provision was not made for amounts past due, as management expects all amounts to be recoverable. Discounting was performed on a debtor currently
unable to settle its debt due to in country forex restrictions. 

The credit quality of trade and other receivables is assessed on an individual client level based on the nature of the clients 
the Group does business with.  It is reputable companies in the industry with a good business history.

Credit risk with regards to Withholding tax assets and cash and cash equivalents are considered to be low.
Credit rating on cash at bank and short-term bank deposits (Moody’s)

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Cash at bank and short-term bank deposits
P-2 26 715 18 090 1 413 1
Ba3 71 68 71 68
Cash on hand 170 56 10 5

26 956 18 214 1 494 74

27.2 Liquidity Risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding 
the impact of netting agreements:

Non-derivative  financial liabilities Carrying 
amount

R’000

Contractual 
cash flows

R’000

6 months
R’000

6 - 12 months
R’000

1 - 5 years
R’000

Group 30 June 2016
Trade and other payables 5 400 5 400 5 400 – –

5 400 5 400 5 400 – –
Group 30 June 2015
Trade and other payables 3 352 3 352 3 352 – –

3 352 3 352 3 352 – –
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Non-derivative  financial liabilities Carrying 
amount

R’000

Contractual 
cash flows

R’000

6 months
R’000

6 - 12 months
R’000

1 - 5 years
R’000

Company 30 June 2016
Trade and other payables 2 051 2 051 2 051 – –
Loans from related parties 21 327 21 327 21 327

23 378 23 378 23 378 – –
Company 30 June 2015
Trade and other payables 912 912 912 - –
Loans from related parties 20 873 20 873 – 20 873

21 785 21 785 912 20 873 –

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly 
different amounts.

The loans from related parties will be settled by means of a dividend issue by subsidiary companies. At year-end, the 
assets are exceeded by liabilities, as a result of the loans from related parties. Liabilities, excluding the loans to related 
parties, are minimal and does not carry a significant liquidity risk

. 

27.3 Interest Rate Risk 

Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments is 
as follows:

Group  Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Financial assets 26 956 18 214 1 494 74
Financial liabilities – – – –
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Group  Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
26 956 18 214 1 494 74

Financial assets represent cash balances held with financial institutions in current accounts.  

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A 100 basis point increase or decrease in the interest rate received would result in an adjustment to the Group’s profit 
or loss and equity of R11 169 (2015: R 4 671) before tax and R41 (2015: R2 275) to the Company’s profit or loss and 
equity before tax, respectively.  This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant

27.4 Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of Financial 
Position, are as follows:

Notes Fair value
Level 3

R’000

Carrying value
R’000 

Group 30 June 2016
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 18 13 377 13 377

Withholding tax rebates receivable 22 2 502 2 502
Cash and cash equivalents 19 26 956 26 956

42 835 42 835

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (5 400) (5 400)

(5 400) (5 400)

Notes Fair value
Level 3

R’000

Carrying value
R’000 

Group 30 June 2015
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 18 14 232 14 232
Withholding tax rebates receivable 22 3 558 3 558
Cash and cash equivalents 19 18 214 18 214

36 004 36 004
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (3 352) (3 352)

(3 352) (3 352)
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Notes Fair value
Level 3

R’000

Carrying value
R’000 

Company 30 June 2016
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 18 3 314 3 314
Cash and cash equivalents 19 1 494 1 494

4 808 4 808
Financial liabilities
Loans from related parties 21 (21 327) (21 327)

Trade and other payables 21 (2 051) (2 015)
(23 378) (23 378)

Notes Fair value
Level 3

R’000

Carrying value
R’000 

Company 30 June 2015
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 18 4 130 4 130
Cash and cash equivalents 19 74 74

4 204 4 204
Financial liabilities
Loans from related parties 21 (20 873) (20 873)

Trade and other payables 21 (912) (912)
(21 785) (21 785)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading 
and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted mar-
ket price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. 

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as 
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, 
the instrument is included in level 2. 

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 
level 3. 

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and all financial liabilities approximate the fair values.

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

28.1 Description of share-based payment arrangements 

At 30 June 2016 the Group and Company has the following share based payment arrangements:

Share option program (equity-settled)

On 3 July 2009 the Group and Company established an employee share incentive scheme which is aimed at creating 
an incentive to promote the continued growth of the Group by giving employees an opportunity to acquire shares.
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On 1 November 2009 and 26 June 2010 the Group and Company offered selected executive employees the oppor-
tunity to participate in an employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are 
exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant. The options granted on 1 November 2009 lapsed on 
30 October 2014.

On 13 November 2013 the Group and Company offered selected executive employees the opportunity to participate in 
an employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are exercisable at the market 
price of the shares at the date of grant.

On 17 February 2015 the Group and Company offered selected executive employees the opportunity to participate in 
an employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are exercisable at the market 
price of the shares at the date of grant.

The options granted to a beneficiary in terms of the share incentive scheme shall lapse if the beneficiary’s employment 
with the Group terminates for whatever reason.  

Terms and conditions of share option program

The terms and conditions relating to the grants under the share option program are as follows; all options are to be 
settled by physical delivery of shares.

Grant date Number of instru-
ments outstanding at 
30 June in thousands

Vesting conditions Weighted average 
remaining 
contractual life

Options granted to key 
management on 
26 June 2010

2016: Nil (2015: 1 240) • 33.3% after 36
months of service
after the grant date

• 33.3% after 48
months of service
after the grant date

• 33.3% after 60
months of service
after the grant date

Expired during the prior 
year

Options granted to key 
management on 
13 November 2013

2016: 4 455 (2015  4 455) • 33.3% after 36
months of service
after the grant date

• 33.3% after 48
months of service
after the grant date

• 33.3% after 60
months of service
after the grant date

2.5 years

Options granted to key 
management on 
17 February 2015

2016: 2 345 (2015:  2 
345)

• 33.3% after 36
months of service
after the grant date

• 33.3% after 48
months of service
after the grant date

• 33.3% after 60
months of service
after the grant date

3.6 years
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Disclosure of share option program 

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Number of 
options  

Number of 
options  

Number of 
options

Number of 
options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 6 800 4 980 6 800 4 980
Issued during the year – 2 345 – 2 345
Forfeited during the year – (525) – (525)
Outstanding at the end of the year 6 800 6 800 6 800 6 800
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

The options granted on 26 June 2010 had an exercise price of R1.86, the options granted on 13 November 2013 had 
an exercise price of 80.42 cents and the options granted on 17 February 2015 had an exercise price of R1.41. All of 
the options have a contractual life of 5 years.

In terms of the share ownership and share incentive scheme the maximum number of options to be granted may not ex-
ceed 6.8 million scheme shares and the maximum number of scheme shares to which any single eligible employee 
shall have rights to may not exceed 1 360 000 shares. 

Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values 

The grant date fair value of the rights granted through the employee share option plan was measured based on the 
Black-Scholes formula. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility of compara-
tive entities due to the low trading volumes of SilverBridge shares. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values 
at grant date of the share-based payment plans are the following:

Share options granted 26 June 2010
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 1.90
Share price at grant date (weighted) 1.90
Exercise price 1.86
Expected volatility 46.00%
Average volatility 46.00%
Option life (expected) 5 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8-9%

Share options granted 1 November 2009
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 1.01
Share price at grant date (weighted) 1.69
Exercise price 1.56
Expected volatility 59.90%
Average volatility 59.90%
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Share options granted 1 November 2009
Option life (expected) 5 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8-9%

Share options granted 13 November 2013
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 0.47
Share price at grant date (weighted) 0.79
Exercise price 0.80
Expected volatility 45.00%
Average volatility 45.00%
Option life (expected) 5 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 7.47%

Share options granted 17 February 2015
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 0.80
Share price at grant date (weighted) 1.50
Exercise price 1.41
Expected volatility 48.00%
Average volatility 48.00%
Option life (expected) 5.4 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds)                                                                         7.03% - 7.11%

28.2  Directors interest in share options 

The following directors received share options as part of the above share options programme:

Director 2014 year 2015 year 2016 year Total
J Swanepoel 1 360 000 – – 1 360 000
L Kuyper 1 097 500 262 500 – 1 360 000
P Ashton 200 000 – – 200 000
S Blyth – 1 000 000 – 1 000 000

None of the above share options were exercised or exercisable at year end.
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29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to year end the directors have declared and approved a final gross dividend of 6 cents on 14 September 
2016 for the year ended 30 June 2016 from income reserves.Other than the dividend distribution referred to above, no 
events occurred subsequent to the year end that would require adjustment to a disclosure on the company or group 
financial statements

30.  GOING CONCERN

The directors have reviewed the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year to 30 June 
2017. On the basis of this review, although the Company’s current liabilities exceed the current assets on 30 June 2016, 
the directors are satisfied that the Company and its subsidiaries will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and 
have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code:  ZAE000086229    Share Code: SVB 

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please con-
sult your Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other 
professional adviser immediately.
Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company will be held on 
Wednesday, 26 October 2016 at 11:00 at the SilverBridge Office Boardroom, 1st Floor, Castle View North, 
495 Prieska Street, Erasmuskloof, Pretoria to deal with such business as may lawfully be dealt with at the 
meeting and to consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and special reso-
lutions set out hereunder in the manner required by the Companies Act, 2008 (No 71 of 2008), as amended 
(“the Companies Act”), the memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”) of the Company and the Listings Require-
ments of JSE Limited (“JSE Listings Requirements”).
The record date on which members must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer sec-
retaries of the Company for the purpose of being entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is 
Friday 21 October 2016. Accordingly, the last day to trade SilverBridge shares in order to be recorded in the 
register to be entitled to vote will be Tuesday 18 October 2016.
Meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory 
identification before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting.  Forms of identification 
include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.
Presentation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
• The audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (as approved by the board of di-

rectors of the Company), incorporating the directors’ report, the auditor’s report and the Audit, Risk and 
IT Committee report for the year ended 30 June 2016, have been distributed and will be presented to 
shareholders.  The annual financial statements, including the unmodified audit opinion, are available on 
SilverBridge’s website at www.silverbridge.co.za, or may be requested and obtained in person, at no 
charge, at the registered office of SilverBridge during office hours.

The complete annual financial statements are set out on pages 47 to 95 of the integrated annual report to 
which this notice is attached.
1. Ordinary resolution number 1
 Re-election of directors who retire by rotation  

“Resolved that shareholders re-elect by way of series of votes, the following non-executive directors 
who, in terms of article 26  of the MOI of the Company and the provisions of the JSE Listings Re-
quirements, retire by rotation at this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, have offered 
themselves for re-election:
2.1  Robert Emslie
2.2 Hasheel Govind
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Brief biographies in respect of each director offering himself for re-election are contained on pages 
12 to 13 of the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached.
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 
50% of the votes exercised on the resolution.  

2. Ordinary resolution number 2
Re-appointment of external auditor
“Resolved that shareholders authorise the Board to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporat-
ed, as the independent external auditors and Deon Storm as the individual registered auditor of the
Company for the ensuing year and to determine the remuneration of the auditors.”
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than
50% of the votes exercised on the resolution.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3
Re-election of Audit Risk and IT committee members
“Resolved that shareholders re-elect, each by way of a separate vote, the following, non-executive
directors, as members of the SilverBridge Audit, Risk and IT committee, with effect from the end of
this annual general meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company:
3.1 Jeremy de Villiers (Chairman)
3.2 Robert Emslie
3.3 Tyrrel Murray
Brief biographies of these directors offering themselves for election as members of the SilverBridge
Audit, Risk and IT committee are enclosed in the report on pages 12 to 13 of the integrated annual
report to which this notice is attached.
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than
50% of the votes exercised on the resolution.

4. Ordinary resolution number 4
Endorsement of SilverBridge remuneration policy
“Resolved that shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s re-
muneration policy (excluding the remuneration of the non-executive directors and the members of
Board committees for their services as directors and member of committee), as set out on page 27
in the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached.”
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than
50% of the votes exercised on the resolution.

5. Ordinary resolution number 5
General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued ordinary shares limited to 
12 000 000 shares

“Resolved that the authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby 
placed under the control and authority of the directors of the Company and that the directors of the 
Company be and are hereby authorised and empowered to allot and issue such ordinary shares, or 
to issue any options in respect of all or any of such ordinary shares, limited to an amount of 12 000 
000 shares, to such person or persons on such terms and conditions and at such times as the direc-
tors of the Company may from time to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE Listings Requirements, as amended 
from time to time, when applicable, such authority to remain in force until the next annual general 
meeting .”
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 
50% of the votes exercised on the resolution.    
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6. Ordinary resolution number 6
General authority to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash limited to 12 000 000 
shares
“Resolved that subject to the general authority proposed in terms of ordinary resolution number 5 
above and the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company be and are hereby granted 
a general authority to –
• allot and issue, or to issue any options in respect of, all or any of the authorised but unissued 

ordinary shares in the capital of the Company; and/or
• sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, or issue any options in respect of, ordinary shares in the 

capital of the Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company, 
• for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors may 

from time to time in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the Memorandum of 
Incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries and the JSE Listings Requirements from time 
to time. 

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that:
• this general authority will be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting 

or the expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given;
• the securities which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or 

where this is not the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a 
class already in issue;

• any such issue may only be made to “public shareholders” as defined in the JSE Listings Re-
quirements and not to related parties;

• the securities which are the subject of a general issue for cash may not exceed 50% (fifty per-
cent) of the number of listed securities, excluding treasury shares, the 12 000 000 securities for 
which management is seeking general authority to issue and sell, is below the 50% threshold. 
Any securities issued under this authorisation during the period of 15 (fifteen) months from the 
date that this authorisation will be deducted from the aforementioned 12 000 000 listed securi-
ties. In the event of a sub-division or a consolidation during the period contemplated above the 
authority will be adjusted to represent the same allocation ratio;  

• in determining the price at which securities may be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of such secu-
rities measured over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is 
agreed in writing between the issuer and the party/ies subscribing for the securities;

• an announcement giving full details, including the number of securities issued, the average dis-
count to the weighted average traded price of the securities over 30 (thirty) business days prior 
to the date that the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and the parties subscribing for 
the securities and the impact on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per share, 
earnings per share and headline earnings per share and, if applicable, diluted earnings and 
headline earnings per share, will be published when the Company has issued securities repre-
senting, on a cumulative basis within the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting 
or the expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given, 5% (five 
percent) or more of the number of securities in issue prior to the issue; and

• whenever the Company wishes to use repurchased shares, held as treasury stock by a subsid-
iary of the Company, such use must comply with the JSE Listings Requirements as if such use 
was a fresh issue of ordinary shares.

Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution number 6 must be passed by a 75% (sev-
enty five percent) majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all members present or 
represented by proxy at the Annual General Meeting.
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7. Ordinary resolution number 7
Authority to sign all required documents
“Resolved that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and special resolutions at this annual general
meeting, any director of the Company or the Company Secretary, be and is hereby individually au-
thorised to sign all such documents and perform all acts which may be required to give effect to such
ordinary and special resolutions.”

8. Special resolution number 1
General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares
“Resolved that the Company, and/or any of its subsidiaries, be and are hereby authorised, by way of
a general approval, to acquire any or all of the issued ordinary shares of the Company, upon such
terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the Company may from time to time
determine, subject to the provisions of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the MOI of the
Company and the JSE Listings Requirements, including, inter alia, that:
• the acquisition of ordinary shares must be effected through the order book operated by the JSE

trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company
and the counterparty;

• the repurchase is authorised in terms of the MOI of the Company;
• this general authority shall be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next annual general meeting

or the variation or revocation of such general authority by special resolution at any subsequent
general meeting of the Company, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the
date of passing of this special resolution number 1;

• an announcement will be published as soon as the Company or any of its subsidiaries have ac-
quired ordinary shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of ordinary shares
in issue prior to the acquisition and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number acquired there-
after, in compliance with paragraph 11.27 of the JSE Listings Requirements;

• the acquisitions of ordinary shares, in the aggregate in any one financial year, may not exceed
20% of the Company’s ordinary issued share capital as at the date of passing of this special
resolution number 1;

• ordinary shares may not be acquired at a price greater than 10% above the weighted average
of the market value of such ordinary shares for the 5 (five) business days immediately preceding
the date on which the transaction is effected.  The JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the
Company’s securities have not traded in such five business day period;

• the Company may only effect the repurchase once the Board of directors authorises the acqui-
sition, the Company passes the solvency and liquidity test and that from the time that the test
is done, there have been no material changes to the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”);

• at any point in time, the Company and/or its subsidiaries may only appoint one agent to effect
any acquisition(s) on its behalf; and

• the Company and/or its subsidiaries may not acquire any ordinary shares during a prohibited
period, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, unless a repurchase programme is in place,
where dates and quantities of shares to be traded during the prohibited period are fixed, which
repurchase programme has been submitted to the JSE in writing and executed by an indepen-
dent third party.

Although no such repurchases are currently in contemplation, the directors of the Company under-
take that at the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take place, the directors of the Company 
will ensure that, after considering the effect of the maximum repurchase and for a period of twelve 
months after the date of this notice of annual general meeting:  
• the Company and the Group will, in the ordinary course of their business, be able to pay their

debts;
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• the consolidated assets of the Company and the Group will exceed the consolidated liabilities
of the Company and the Group respectively, such assets and liabilities being fairly valued, rec-
ognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the financial state-
ments contained in the integrated annual report;

• the issued capital and reserves of the Company and the Group will be adequate for the purposes
of the Company and the Group’s business; and

• the Company and the Group’s working capital will be sufficient for their ordinary business pur-
poses.

The JSE Listings Requirements require, in terms of section 11.26, the following disclosures, which 
are contained in the integrated annual report to which this notice forms part:
• Major shareholders – refer to page 36 of the integrated annual report
• Share capital of the Company – refer to page 82 of the integrated annual report
Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on pages 12 and 13 of the integrated annual report to which this 
notice forms part, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the infor-
mation pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statements false or misleading, and 
that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this special resolution, 
together with this notice, contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements 
in relation to this special resolution.
Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated annual report, there have been 
no material changes in the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries since 
the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of the notice of annual general meeting.
The directors have no specific intention, at present, for the Company or its subsidiaries to acquire 
any of the Company’s issued shares, but consider that such a general authority should be in place 
should an opportunity present itself, which is in the best interests of the Company and its sharehold-
ers.
The directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the Company to extend such 
general authority and thereby allow the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to be in a position to 
acquire the shares issued by the Company, should the market conditions, tax dispensation and price 
justify such an acquisition.
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is at least 75% 
of the votes exercised on the resolution.  
Reason and effect of special resolution number 1
The reason and effect for special resolution number 1 is to grant the Company general approval to 
acquire its own issued shares on such terms, conditions and such amounts determined from time to 
time by the directors of the Company, subject to the limitations set out above.
Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company hereby 
state:
• The directors of the Company have no specific intention to effect the provisions of special res-

olution number 1, but will, however, continually review this position having regard to prevailing
circumstances;

• The intention of the Company and/or its subsidiaries is to consider utilising the general authority
to repurchase if at some future date the cash resources of the Company are in excess of its
requirements; and

• The method by which the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries intends to repurchase its
securities and the date on which such repurchase will take place, has not yet been determined.
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It is the intention of the directors of the Company to use such authority should prevailing circum-
stances (including tax dispensations and market conditions) in their opinion warrant it.

9. Special resolution number 2
Remuneration of non-executive directors
“Resolved that the Board and committee fees for non-executive directors for the financial year ending
30 June 2017, as set out in the note below, be and are hereby authorised, in accordance with section
66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act and that the Company may continue to pay directors’ fees at the
annual rates specified in the note below, for the period from 30 June 2016 until the Company’s 2017
annual general meeting.”
Remuneration: Non-Executive Directors
Period: 1 November 2015 to 30 June 2016

Committee Member Chairman of committee
Board 78 597 292 343
Audit, Risk & IT 53 250 196 173
Social, Ethics & Remuneration 26 412 26 412
Investment 39 938 39 938

The fees will increase as follows from 1 November 2016:

Committee Member Chairman of committee
Board 83 706 311 345
Audit, Risk & IT 56 711 208 924
Social, Ethics & Remuneration 28 129 28 129
Investment 42 534 42 534

In exceptional circumstances where more work is done than expected, a fee per event/meeting of R7 
500 to be paid to non-executive directors.
The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 
75% of the votes exercised on the resolution.  
Reason and effect of special resolution number 2
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to approve the remuneration of the non-ex-
ecutive directors of the Company for their services as directors for the ensuing financial year.

10. Special resolution number 3
Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of shares in the Company or a re-
lated or inter-related company
“Resolved, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the board
of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or
indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in
sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) that the board of the Company may deem fit to any
company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company (“related” or “inter-related” will
herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) and/or to any financier
who provides funding by subscribing for preference shares or other securities in the Company or any
company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company, on the terms and conditions
and for amounts that the board of the Company may determine for the purpose of, or in connection
with the subscription of any option, or any shares or other securities, issued or to be issued by the
Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the purchase of any shares or
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securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next annual general meeting of the Com-
pany.”
Reason for and effect of special resolution number 3
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the directors the authority, until 
the next annual general meeting of the Company, to provide financial assistance to any company or 
corporation which is related or inter-related to the Company and/or to any financier for the purpose 
of or in connection with the subscription or purchase of options, shares or other securities in the 
Company or any related or inter-related company or corporation. This means that the Company is 
authorised, inter alia, to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish security for the 
debt of its subsidiaries where any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to a party 
subscribing for options, shares or securities in the Company or its subsidiaries. A typical example of 
where the Company may rely on this authority is where a subsidiary raised funds by way of issuing 
preference shares and the third-party funder requires the Company to furnish security, by way of a 
guarantee or otherwise, for the obligations of its subsidiary to the third-party funder arising from the 
issue of the preference shares. The Company has no immediate plans to use this authority and is 
simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good corporate governance should the un-
foreseen need arise to use the authority.
In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, the directors 
of the Company confirm that the board will satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably foreseeable 
financial circumstances of the Company, that immediately after providing any financial assistance as 
contemplated in special resolution numbers 3 and 4:
• the assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly 

valued) (taking into consideration the reasonably foreseeable contingent assets and liabilities of 
the Company);

• the Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business 
for a period of 12 months;

• the terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to be provided, will be fair and rea-
sonable to the Company; and

• all relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the granting of financial assistance by 
the Company as contained in the Company’s memorandum of incorporation have been met.

11. Special resolution number 4
Inter-company financial assistance 
“Resolved, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the board 
of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or 
indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in 
section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that the board of the Company may deem fit to any company or 
corporation that is related or inter-related (“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning at-
tributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the board of the Company may determine, provided that the aforementioned approval 
shall be valid until the date of the next annual general meeting of the Company.”
Reason for and effect of special resolution number 4
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant the directors of the Company the 
authority, until the next annual general meeting of the Company, to provide direct or indirect finan-
cial assistance to any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the Company. This 
means that the Company is, inter alia, authorised to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee 
the debt of its subsidiaries.
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12. Special resolution number 5
Amendment to the memorandum of incorporation of the Company
Resolved, as a special resolution that the memorandum of incorporation of the Company be hereby
amended by:
• the deletion of the existing clause 6.4 in its entirety and the substitution therefore with the follow-

ing new clause 6.4:
“If a fraction of a Share comes into being as a result of any action contemplated in clause 6.2
or any other corporate action, the Board may, subject to compliance with the JSE Listings Re-
quirements, to the extent applicable, round all allocations of Shares down to the nearest whole
number and make or facilitate a cash payment for any fractional entitlement. Notwithstanding
the aforementioned to the extent that the JSE advises of another principle to apply to fractional
entitlements, the Board may apply such principle.”

• the deletion of the following wording in the existing clause 22.2.2:
“(with any cumulative fraction of a vote in respect of any Affected Shares held by an Affected
Shareholder rounded down to the nearest whole number)”

• the amendment of the exiting clause 1 to Schedule 1 in its entirety and the substitution thereof
with the following clause 1 to Schedule 1:
“The Company is authorised to issue 200 000 000 ordinary par value Shares of 1 cent each,
as contemplated in clause 6.1.1 of the Memorandum of Incorporation to which this schedule is
Schedule 1.”

• the deletion of the exiting clause 2 to Schedule 1 in its entirety.
Reason for and effect of special resolution number 5
The reason for special resolution number 5 is to obtain the required approval from shareholders to 
amend the MOI of the Company in the manner that aligns the MOI with the recent amendments to the 
JSE Listings Requirements and the requirements of the Company.
The effect of special resolution number 5 is that the Company will have the necessary authority to 
amend the MOI in the manner set out in special resolution number 5, which amendments have also 
been approved by the JSE.

13. Other business
To transact such other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Voting instructions
In terms of the Companies Act, any member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting may
appoint one or more persons as proxy, to attend and speak and vote in his stead. A proxy need not
be a member of the Company. Forms of proxy must be deposited at the office of the transfer sec-
retaries not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays
and public holidays).
If your SilverBridge shares have been dematerialised and are held in a nominee account, then your
Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, as the case may be, should contact you
to ascertain how you wish to cast your vote at the annual general meeting and thereafter cast your
vote in accordance with your instructions.
If you have not been contacted it would be advisable for you to contact your CSDP or broker, as the
case may be, and furnish them with your instructions. If your CSDP or broker, as the case may be,
does not obtain instructions from you, they will be obliged to act in terms of your mandate furnished
to them, or if the mandate is silent in this regard to abstain from voting.
Dematerialised shareholders whose shares are held in a nominee account must not complete the
attached form of proxy.  Unless you advise your CSDP or broker timeously in terms of the agreement
between yourself and your CSDP or broker by the cut-off time advised by them that you wish to at-
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tend the annual general meeting or send a proxy to represent you at the annual general meeting, 
your CSDP or broker will assume you do not wish to attend the annual general meeting or send a 
proxy. If you wish to attend the annual general meeting, your CSDP or broker will issue the necessary 
letter of representation to you to attend the annual general meeting.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than “own 
name” registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must 
request their CSDP or broker to issue them with a letter of representation, or they must provide the 
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement/mandate 
entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.
Shareholder rights
It is requested that forms of proxy should be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries 
at the address given below by no later than Friday, 21 October 2016 at 11:00.
In terms of section 63 (2) and 63 (3) of the Companies Act, shareholders or their proxies may partic-
ipate in the meeting by way of telephone conference call and, if they wish to do so:

• Must contact the Company Secretary (by email at the address melinda@fusioncorp.co.za) by
no later than Friday, 21 October 2016 at 11:00 in order to obtain a pin number and dial-in de-
tails for that conference call

• Will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification
• Will be billed separately by their own telephone service providers for their telephone call to

participate in the meeting
By order of the Board

M. Gous
Company Secretary
14 September 2016
Pretoria 
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Explanatory notes to the AGM

1. Presentation of annual financial statements
The ordinary business to be considered at the annual general meeting of the Company is more fully governed 
in terms of the MOI of the Company.  In short, the ordinary business at an annual general meeting is to present 
the annual financial statements of the Company (as approved by the Board of Directors of the Company), to 
declare or sanction dividends (where applicable), to elect directors, auditors and other officers in the place 
of those retiring by rotation or otherwise and to elect the audit committee.  No special business shall be trans-
acted at an annual general meeting unless due notice thereof has been given.

2. Re-election and rotation of directors
The rotation of directors is governed in terms of the MOI of the Company, which require one third of the 
non-executive directors to retire from office at the annual general meeting.  The retiring directors at each an-
nual general meeting shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election or appointment. 
If at the date of the annual general meeting any director will have held office for a period of three years since 
his last election or appointment he shall retire at such meeting either as one of the directors to retire in pursu-
ance of the foregoing or additionally thereto.  A retiring director shall act as a director throughout the meeting 
at which he retires.  The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election. Robert Emslie and Hasheel Govind 
offer themselves for re-election. 

3. Re-appointment of external auditor
The Audit, Risk and IT Committee considered and assessed the independence of the external auditor, Price-
waterhouseCoopers Incorporated, 2 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, 2157, in accordance with section 90 of the 
Companies Act.  The Audit, Risk and IT Committee was satisfied with PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporat-
ed’s independence.    Furthermore, the SilverBridge Audit, Risk and IT committee has, in terms of paragraph 
3.86 of the JSE Listings Requirements, considered and satisfied itself that Deon Storm the reporting accoun-
tant and individual auditor, is accredited to appear on the JSE List of Accredited Auditors, in compliance with 
section 22 of the JSE Listings Requirements.  The Audit and Risk committee nominated the reappointment 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated as registered auditor for the 2016/2017 financial year, with Deon 
Storm as the individual designated auditor of the Company for the ensuing year.  The Board has accepted 
the recommendation of the Audit, Risk and IT committee subject to shareholder approval as required in terms 
of section 90(1) of the Companies Act.  
The auditors will remain the appointed auditors until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 
Company.  The remuneration of the auditors shall be fixed by agreement with the Company.

4. Re-election of Audit, Risk and IT committee members
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the Company must elect an Audit committee comprising at 
least three members.  The company combined the function of the Audit, risk and IT.  The Audit, Risk and IT 
committee is no longer a committee of the Board, but a committee elected by the shareholders at each an-
nual general meeting.  The proposed members of the Audit, Risk and IT committee have experience in audit, 
accounting, economics, human resources, commerce and general industry, among others.
The Board confirm that Jeremy de Villiers and Robert Emslie are independent non-executive directors. Tyrrel 
Murray represents a large shareholder but applies his mind independently to matters of the company.  Each 
member of the Audit and Risk committee of the company is a suitably qualified and skilled director of the 
company.  The members of the committee are not involved in the day-to-day management of the business or 
have not been so involved at any time of the previous financial year.  None of the members are a prescribed 
officer or full-time employee of the company or another related or inter-related company, or have been such 
an officer or employee at any time during the previous three financial years.  None of the members were a 
material supplier or customer of the company.
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5. Endorsement of SilverBridge remuneration policy
The endorsement of SilverBridge’s remuneration policy is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this 
resolution will therefore not have any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements.  However, the 
Board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when considering the Company’s remuneration 
policy in the remuneration of executive directors.

6. General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued ordinary shares
limited to 12 000 000 shares

In terms of the company’s MOI, the Board might with the prior approval of the company in general meeting, 
subject to the Statutes and the approval of the Issuer Regulation Division of the JSE (where necessary) issue 
authorised but unissued shares in the company to such person or person on such terms and conditions and 
with such rights or restrictions attached thereto as the directors may determine, limited to 12 000 000 shares.
The existing general authorities granted by the shareholders at the previous annual general meeting, held 
27 October 2015, will expire at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 26 October 2016 at 
11:00, unless renewed.  The authorities will be subject to the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Require-
ments.  The aggregate number of ordinary shares able to be allotted and issued in terms of these authori-
ties are limited as set out in the respective resolutions.
The directors request shareholder approval for the renewal of these authorities as it would be advantageous 
for the business to make use of the authority if opportunities arise. 

7. General authorisation to issue shares for cash
This enables the directors to issue shares for cash limited to 12 000 000 shares.

8. Authority to sign all required documents
This requests authority to be given to a director or the Company Secretary to sign such documents and exe-
cute such actions as will be required to register and give effect to the resolutions passed.

9. General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares
This is to grant the company and its subsidiaries a general authority to facilitate the acquisition by the compa-
ny and/or its subsidiaries of the company’s own shares, which general authority shall be valid until the earlier 
of the next annual general meeting of the company, provided that this general authority shall not extend be-
yond 15 months from the date of the passing of this special resolution number 1.

10. Remuneration of non-executive directors
In terms of section 66(8) – (9) of the Companies Act, remuneration may only be paid to directors, for their ser-
vice as directors, in accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders within the previous 
two years and if not prohibited in terms of a company’s MOI.

11. Financial assistance for the subscription and / or purchase of securities
This general authority would greatly assist the Company inter alia with making inter-company loans to subsid-
iaries as well as granting letters of support and guarantees in appropriate circumstances. The existence of 
a general shareholder authority would avoid the need to refer each instance to members for approval which 
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might impede the negotiations and add time and expense. If approved, this general authority will expire at 
the end of two years.
The Board must when considering such assistance either for the specific recipient, or generally for a category 
ensures that:
• The company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test immediately after providing the financial assis-

tance; and
• The terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the

company.

12. Amendment to the memorandum of incorporation of the Company
The reason for special resolution number 5 is to obtain the required approval from shareholders to amend 
the MOI of the Company in the manner that aligns the MOI with the recent amendments to the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the requirements of the Company.
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SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code:  ZAE000086229    Share Code: SVB 

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)

FORM OF PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2016 AT 11:00, 
AT THE SILVERBRIDGE OFFICES, 1st FLOOR, CASTLE VIEW NORTH, 495 PRIESKA STREET, 

ERASMUSKLOOF, PRETORIA
For use only by ordinary shareholders who:

• hold ordinary shares in certificated form (“certificated ordinary shareholders”); or

• have dematerialised their ordinary shares (“dematerialised ordinary shareholders”) and are registered with “own name” registration,

Holders of dematerialised ordinary shares other than “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting must inform their CSDP or broker of their 
intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend the annual general meeting 
in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP of broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone (work): Telephone (home): Mobile:

being the registered holder(s)/custodian of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company do hereby appoint (see note):

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the chairperson of the annual general meeting 

as my/our proxy to attend and act on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company which will be held on Wednesday, 26 October 2016 at 11:00, for 
the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any postponement or adjournment 
thereof, and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the 
following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election of directors who retires by rotation:

2.1  Robert Emslie

2.2  Hasheel Govind

2. Ordinary resolution number 2:  Reappointment of external auditor

3. Ordinary resolution number 3:  Re-Election of Audit, Risk and IT Committee

       3.1  Jeremy de Villiers (Chairman)

       3.2  Robert Emslie

       3.3  Tyrrel Murray

4. Ordinary resolution number 4:  General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued 
ordinary shares limited to 12 000 000 shares

5. Ordinary resolution number 5:  General authority to issue ordinary shares, or sell treasury shares, for cash 
limited to 12 000 000 shares

6. Ordinary resolution number 6:  Authority to sign documents 

7. Special resolution number 1:  General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

8. Special resolution number 2:  Remuneration of non-executive directors

9. Special resolution number 3:  Financial assistance  for the subscription and/ or purchase of securities 

10. Special resolution number 4:  Inter-company financial assistance 

11. Special resolution number 5: Amendment to the memorandum of incorporation of the Company 

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast.  If no indication is given, the proxy will be entitled to vote or 
abstain as he/she deems fit.

Signed at On 2016

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)
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SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:
• a shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with 

the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint any individual 
(including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate 
in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such 
shareholder

• a proxy may delegate her or his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder 
to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument 
appointing such proxy

• irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the 
appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the 
relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise 
of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder

• any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form 
of instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise

• if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke 
the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later 
inconsistent appointment of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the 
revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant company

• a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from 
exercising, any voting right of such shareholder without direction, except 
to the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, 
or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise

• if the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a 
shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that appointment remains 
in effect, any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such 
company’s memorandum of incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder 
must be delivered by such company to:

• the relevant shareholder; or
• he proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: (i) directed such 

company to do so, in writing and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by 
such company for doing so.

Notes to form of proxy
1. The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold 

shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in 
electronic form in “own name”.

2. All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through 
a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the Annual General Meeting must 
provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the 
relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP 
or broker.

3. An ordinary shareholder holding dematerialised shares by “own name” 
registration, or who holds shares that are not dematerialised, may insert 
the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the ordinary 
shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting 
“the chairman of the annual general meeting”.  The person whose name 
stands first on the proxy form and who is present at the annual general 
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose 
names follow.  Should a proxy not be specified, this will be exercised 
by the chairman of the annual general meeting.  A proxy need not be a 
shareholder of the Company.

4. An ordinary shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, 
on a poll, to that proportion of the total votes in the Company which the 
aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares held by him/her 
bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal value of all the shares 
issued by the Company.  An ordinary shareholder’s instructions to 
the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by the ordinary shareholder in the appropriate box(es). 
An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the maximum number of votes 
exercisable by that shareholder.  Failure to comply with the above will 

be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at 
the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of the entire 
shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.  An ordinary shareholder or his/
her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the ordinary 
shareholder, or to cast all those votes exercised in the same way, but the 
total of the votes cast and in respect whereof abstention is recorder may 
not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder.

5. A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to 
the Annual General Meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity or other 
legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or 
the transfer of the ordinary shares in respect of which the proxy is given, 
unless notice as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been 
received by the transfer secretaries not less than forty eight hours before 
the commencement of the Annual General Meeting.

6. If any ordinary shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that his/
her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain 
from voting, or give contradictory instructions, or should any further 
resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may be properly put before the 
annual general meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote 
as he/she thinks fit.

7. The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the relevant 
shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and speaking and 
voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms thereof.

8. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the 
proxy form in a representative capacity must be attached to this form, 
unless previously recorded by the Company or waved by the chairman of 
the annual general meeting.

9. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the 
form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of 
proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries 
or waived by the Chairperson of the Annual General Meeting.

10. A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by 
his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant documents 
establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the 
transfer secretaries of the Company.

11. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:
• any one holder may sign the form of proxy
• the vote(s) of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that purpose 

seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of 
ordinary shareholders appear in the Company’s register of ordinary 
shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) 
will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint 
shareholder(s)

12. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any 
proxy form which is completed and/or received other than in compliance 
with these notes.

13. A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the 
shareholder, to another person.

14. It is requested that this proxy form should be completed and returned 
to the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown, 2017), so as to reach them by no later than Friday, 
21 October 2016 at 11:00.

15. 0Should a shareholder lodge the proxy form with the transfer secretaries 
less than 48 hours before the annual general meeting, such shareholder 
will also be required to furnish a copy of such proxy form to the chairman 
of the annual general meeting before the appointed proxy exercises any 
such shareholder’s rights at the annual general meeting.

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROXY ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE TRANSFER 
SECRETARIES ON REQUEST.

NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY
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SILVERBRIDGE HOLDINGS LIMITED
 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code:  ZAE000086229    Share Code: SVB 

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)

Election Form
The Directors

SilverBridge Holdings Limited

I/We, (PLEASE PRINT) the undersigned

of address

being the registered holder(s) of: ordinary shares in the capital of the Company and/or

do hereby elect to receive any documents or notices from SilverBridge, by electronic post, to the extent that the Company is permitted to so distribute any notices, 
documents, records or statements in terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and any and every other statute, ordinance, regulation or rule in force 
from time to time, including the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, concerning companies and affecting SilverBridge.

I/We hereby furnish the following email address and/or fax number for such electronic communication:

Email

Fax Number

Any written amendment or withdrawal of any such notice of consent by me/us, shall only take effect if signed by me/us and received by the Company.

Signed at On 2016

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)
 

Please complete, detach and return this election form to the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2017), by no later than Friday, 21 October 2016 at 11:00.



 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INVESTOR FACT SHEET for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

 

Market stats 
 

 JSE Code: SVB 

 Shares in issue: 34.7 million 

 Share price: 280 cents* 

 Market cap: R 97.2 

 P/E: 9.6 times 

 DY (Gross): 2.1% 
 

 * as at 14 September 2016 

 

Latest result comment  
 

 An increase in revenue resulted in a 
growth of Net profit of 21% to R10.09 
million 

 Cash balance improved to R27 million 

 We continue to close new deals in 
Africa 

Major shareholders 
 

 33% - Kagiso Tiso Holdings Pty Ltd 
and MMI Holdings Ltd held through 
Cshell 448 Pty Ltd 

 7% - NMT Group Proprietary Limited 

 23% - Directors 

 32% - Public 

 

Share price performance 
 

Insurance administration solutions for Africa 
 
SilverBridge offers reliable solutions that support the operations of 
companies offering financial products and services. Our understanding of 
contract administration processes helps our clients to improve and simplify 
their business processes. We achieve this by implementing our system 
platforms and customising them to meet product and process needs. In 
the last year we have extended our services to include cloud hosted 
solutions. This is a result of experience gained over many years. 

Exergy is our flagship platform that enables core back office policy 
administration in the life assurance industry. The Exergy solution package 
can be customised to suit the needs of a life assurer’s on-premise 
software requirements. We have extended our portfolio to include group 
scheme administration, pension fund administration as well as elements of 
medical and short-term insurance. This caters for clients wanting to offer a 
wider range of financial services offerings. 

We use a project approach to help our clients translate business 
objectives into IT requirements. We then implement sustainable solutions. 
Our software products and hosted services are rented to our customers on 
a usage basis. 

(to June - R ‘000) 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Revenue 82 247 83 844 80 943 86 442 

   growth (y-o-y) 0% 2% -3% 7% 

EBIT 3 215 8 295 11 012 12 036 

   EBIT margin 4% 10% 14% 14% 

PAT 2 322 5 919 8 343 10 090 

   growth (y-o-y) -135% 155% 41% 21% 

HEPS (cents) 7.6 17.0 24.1 29.1 

   growth (y-o-y) -145% 124% 42% 21% 

DPS (Gross - cents)   5.0 6.0 

   growth (y-o-y)    20% 

Cash flow from operations -94 6 742 11 922 12 928 

Cash balance 3 203 

 

7 934 18 214 26 956 

Debt/(Debt+Equity) 0% 0% 0% 0% 

% Annuity Revenue 70% 74% 73% 87% 

ROE 10% 19% 21% 21% 

Employees 85 81 78 88 

As a percentage of sales     

Segment profit 22% 22% 25% 28% 

Research & Development -15% -12% -11% -14% 

Unallocated costs -3% 0% 0% 0% 

  

Group financial performance 
 

 

Revenue and EBIT margin 
 



 
 
 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Customers across Africa 
 Several well-known Life insurance companies 

(including Nedgroup Life, Metropolitan International, 
ABSA Life, African Bank and Regent) 

 SilverBridge has more than 30 clients in 12 African 
countries 

 

 SilverBridge Holdings Limited 
Headquarters: 

1st Floor, Castle View North, 
495 Prieska Str, Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0048 
 
Auditors: 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated 
 
 
Executive Directors: 

                    
 Jaco Swanepoel               Lee Kuyper         Stuart Blyth 
          CEO          Financial Director        Executive Director 
 

Software rental 
Rental of software to clients. Annuity income model on 
usage basis. Driven by number of policies administered. 

 (to Jun - R ‘000) 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Revenue 34 193 37 137 33 443 36 977 

   growth (y-o-y) 3% 9% -10% 11% 

Segment result 25 081 22 198 20 134 23 080 

   Profit margin 73% 60% 60% 62% 

R&D expensed 12 183 10 031 8 940 11 813 

R&D capitalised 756 1 002 1 167 1 885 

 

 Revenue increased mainly from introducing 
complimentary products. 

 Our annuity rental stream remains a core focus. 

 R&D efforts saw an increased focus on developing new 
products that can generate future revenue.  
      

Support services 
Ongoing support of the installed software across the 
client base. Annuity based. 

 (to Jun - R ‘000) 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Revenue 25 530 26 024 27 822 36 245 

   growth (y-o-y) * 2% 7% 30% 

Segment result 2 303 -1 457 -1 064 2 012 

   Profit margin 9% -6% -4% 6% 

* Growth not indicated owing to restatement of segment information in 2013. 
 

 Revenue increased from the transition toward higher 
value-added offerings.  

 The profit margin increased significantly demonstrating 
the success of the additional offerings. 

 

Hosting and outsourcing 
Cloud based hosting, outsourced technical services and 
full business process outsourcing. 

 (to Jun - R ‘000) 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Revenue ** ** ** 2 193 

   growth (y-o-y) ** ** ** ** 

Segment result ** ** ** -1 927 

   Profit margin ** ** ** -88% 

** This is a new segment initiated in the 2016 financial year. No comparatives 
    are available.  

 
 Additional services offered to existing clients 

 Initial investment to set up business within the first 
6 months without any associated revenue.  

 

BEE 
 33% Kagiso Trust 

 Level three contributor 

 Group is committed to BEE and transformation 
 

 

 

Implementation services 
The implementation of insurance industry software.  
Project based. People intensive. 

 (to Jun - R ‘000) 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Revenue 22 524 20 683 19 678 11 027 

   growth (y-o-y) * -8% -5% -44% 

Segment result -9 556 -2 415 882 684 

   Profit margin -42% -12% 4% 6% 

* Growth not indicated owing to restatement of segment information in 2013. 
 
 Revenue decrease as a result of strategic transition 

toward smaller projects. 

 Margin improved from improved efficiencies. 
 
 

SilverBridge Investor contact 
 

Lee Kuyper 
Financial Director 
lee.kuyper@silverbridge.co.za 
www.silverbridge.co.za 
+27 (0)12 360 0100 

Segmental Performance 
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